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Wednesday, May 22, 2008

--- Upon commencing at 9:29 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


The Board is sitting today with respect to an application filed with the Board on November 30th, 2007 by Ontario Power Generation, under section 78.1 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, seeking approval for increases in payment amounts for the output of certain of its generating facilities to be effective April 1st, 2008.

As part of its application, OPG has also requested an order from the Board declaring the current payment amounts interim and increasing the payment amounts as of April 1st, 2008.


This Board granted the first aspect of that request on February 7th and issued an order making the current payments interim.  With respect to the second aspect - that is to say increasing the payment amounts on an interim basis - that application was denied on February 7th, for the reasons set out in the decision, which is at page 111 to 118 of the transcript of that day.


May we have the appearances, please?

Appearances:


MR. PENNY:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.  My name is Michael Penny.  I appear as counsel for the applicant, OPG.  With me are Ms. Erzetic from the OPG legal department and their regulatory affairs folks, Ms. Reuber on my left and Mr. Barrett on my right.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. RODGER:  Good morning.  Mark Rodger appearing as counsel to the Association of Major Power Consumers of Ontario, and with me is Mr. Tom Adams, a consultant to AMPCO.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Rodger.


MR. THOMPSON:  Peter Thompson for the -- if I remember my client's name.  The Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Thompson.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Donna Campbell for Board Staff, with Richard Battista and Chris Cincar.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. FAYE:  Peter Faye for Energy Probe, and with me to my right is Dr. Larry Schwartz, and to my left is David MacIntosh.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Faye.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Murray Klippenstein for Pollution Probe, and with me from time to time will be Mr. Basil Alexander.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Michael Buonaguro, counsel with the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition, and I'm accompanied today by Mani Taheri, an articling student with the Public Interest Advocacy Centre.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Buonaguro.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.  Richard Stephenson.  I am counsel for the Power Workers' Union.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Stephenson.


MR. WARREN:  Robert Warren for Consumers Council of Canada.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Warren.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  John DeVellis for the School Energy Coalition, and I would like to enter an appearance for Mr. Jay Shepherd, who will also be appearing throughout the hearing from time to time.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MR. MYERS:  I am Jonathan Myers.  I am here with OPG, as well.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Myers.  Anyone else?  Mr. Penny.

Opening Statement by Mr. Penny:


MR. PENNY:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  There are no preliminaries that I am aware of, so we will go right to it.  It was my proposal, Mr. Chairman, to spend about 15 or 20 minutes in a brief opening, highlighting some of our themes and issues as we see them, and then to move directly to the first witness panel, which will deal with the company's rate base and cost of debt.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. PENNY:  I did want to refer to a couple of documents during my opening, which are already in the record.  So what I will do is pass -- but for convenience, I have just made photocopies of them so that you don't need to haul your binders out.  So maybe I could have those passed out.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. PENNY:  I don't think it is necessary to have an exhibit number attached to this, Mr. Chairman, because, as I said, these documents already have exhibit numbers and I have noted them on the pages.


Ontario Power Generation, Mr. Chairman, is a business corporation incorporated in 1998 under the Ontario Business Corporations Act.  Its sole shareholder is, of course, the province of Ontario.


OPG is Ontario's largest electricity generator by a considerable margin, generating approximately 70 percent of the electricity consumed in Ontario.  The prescribed assets, which give rise to this application, consist of OPG's nuclear generating stations - that is, Pickering A and B and Darlington - as well as the Niagara Plant Group on the Niagara River and the R.H. Saunders hydro generating station on the St. Lawrence River.

These prescribed assets produce about 43 percent of Ontario's electricity.  About 75 percent of that comes from the assets that are regulated in the nuclear business and about 25 percent from the hydroelectric.


The key legislative provisions governing Ontario, the Ontario Energy Board's jurisdiction and mandate, are section 78.1 and Ontario regulation 53.05.  OPG is, however, subject to many additional regulatory constraints under various enactments, regulations and agreements.

OPG has obligations, for example, due to the fact that Niagara and the St. Lawrence River are boundary waters.  Dam safety and environmental legislation are also critical areas of regulatory constraint in relation to the prescribed hydroelectric assets.


In the nuclear context, OPG is subject of course to the authority of the Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission, and, in that context, is subject to the federal Nuclear Safety and Control Act.  Nuclear waste is also heavily regulated federally under the federal Nuclear Fuel Waste Act.

In addition, OPG is subject to the obligation to fund its existing and future nuclear waste and decommissioning obligations under the Ontario Nuclear Funding Agreement with the province of Ontario.


As you know, under Ontario regulation 53.05, the amounts the IESO pays for the output of OPG's prescribed assets was fixed from April 1, 2005 to March 31, 2008 at $33.00 per megawatt hour for hydro and $49.50 per megawatt hour for nuclear.


After March 31, the OEB has jurisdiction to set new payment amounts in accordance with the just and reasonable standard and the specific provisions of the regulations, and, as you have noted, of course that jurisdiction was engaged when the OEB made OPG's payment amounts interim as of April 1, 2008 pending the outcome of this hearing.

Shortly after OPG's payment amounts were originally fixed by -- in 2005 by the regulation, OPG also entered into a memorandum of agreement with its shareholder, and several provisions of that mandate are particularly relevant to this proceeding and I just wanted to highlight a few of those, which I have side barred in the attachment.


This comes from Exhibit A1, tab 4, schedule 4, appendix B -- sorry, A1-4-1, appendix B.


In particular, I simply wanted to note under "Mandate" item 1, that:

"The OPG's core mandate is electricity generation.  It will operate its existing nuclear hydroelectric and fossil generating assets as efficiently and cost effectively as possible within the legislative and regulatory framework of the province of Ontario and the government of Canada, in particular, the Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission.  OPG will operate these assets in a manner that mitigates the province's financial and operational risk."


Item 2:

"OPG's key nuclear objective will be the reduction of the risk exposure to the province arising from its investment in nuclear generating stations, in general, and, in particular, the refurbishment of older units.  OPG will continue to operate with a high degree of vigilance with respect to the nuclear safety."


Item 3 from that page:

"OPG will seek continuous improvement in its nuclear generation business and internal services.  OPG will benchmark its performance in these areas against CANDU nuclear plants worldwide, as well as against the top quartile of private and publicly owned nuclear electricity generators in North America.  OPG's top operational priority will be to improve the operation of its existing fleet."


Then if you would flip the page, you will see, still under the heading "Mandate", item 7:

"OPG will operate in Ontario in accordance with the highest corporate standards including but not limited to the areas of corporate governance, social responsibility and corporate citizenship."


Under "Governance Framework", it indicates, particularly in item 2:

"The shareholder may at times direct OPG to undertake special initiatives.  Such directives will be communicated as written declarations by way of unanimous shareholder agreement or declaration in accordance with section 108 of the OBCA and be made public within a reasonable time frame."


Of course, as you know, there are such directives operative in this case.


On page three of the bundle, under "Financial Framework", item 1:

"As an OBCA corporation with a commercial mandate, OPG will operate on a financially sustainable basis and maintain the value of its assets for its shareholder, the province of Ontario."

Now, these provisions, in my submission, are significant not only in the general guidance they provide as to the government's policy intentions around OPG's operations but specifically with respect to the issue of cost of capital and the stand-alone principle, which is -- becomes relevant in the context of the cost of capital.


It is OPG's position that these objectives clearly contemplate that OPG should operate as a self-sufficient commercial entity and that OPG's operations should be financially sustainable.


Specific historical recoveries are also prescribed by Ontario regulation 53/05.  We have reviewed that regulation in some detail when we dealt with interim rates.  I am not going to go through it now, but let me just highlight those that are particularly pertinent to the evidence in this hearing.  They're detailed in the evidence, of course, but they include the differences in production due to differences between forecast and actual hydrology conditions; the funding of nuclear liabilities; costs incurred to increase the output of prescribed facilities; costs of planning and preparation for new nuclear facilities; costs incurred with respect to the Bruce generating stations; and costs of the Pickering A return to service project.


Again, as a starting point, the regulations also require the OEB to accept OPG's assets and liabilities as established by OPG's 2007 audited financial statements.


Now, the revenue requirement needed to operate these facilities safely and efficiently is large, by Ontario standards.  That's because the facilities themselves are large and complex and provide almost half of Ontario's electricity needs.  Those employed either directly or indirectly in the operations of the prescribed assets number in excess of 9,000 souls, and these facilities, as you know, produce in excess of 68 terawatt hours of hydro -- of electricity per year.


The continued and reliable operation of these facilities which are crucial to Ontario's electricity needs requires an appropriate level of maintenance and investment.  Without the funds necessary to conduct required maintenance and investment in these facilities, OPG will not be able to maintain the value and utility of these assets and the reliability of the electricity system will be at risk.


Now, summary of the revenue requirement is at pages 5 and 6 of the brief.  This comes from A1-3, tables 1 and 2.  You will see at line, dealing with rate base at line 4; from page five this is hydro, the hydro rate base is roughly 3.9 billion.  Nuclear rate base on the next page; roughly 3.5 billion for a combined rate base total of 7.4 billion from line 4.


Expenses for hydro total some -- on line 17, total some 762 million over the test period -- I am talking now the 21 months of course, not per year -- 4.9 billion for nuclear, that's from page 6, for a combined total of 5.7 billion in expenses.


The full revenue requirement for the entire 21-month test period is 1.3 billion for hydro and five.1 billion for nuclear for a combined revenue requirement -- before mitigation, this is, of course -- of 6.4 billion.


I say before mitigation, because OPG has tax loss carry-forwards available from past periods of operation, which it proposes to use to eliminate all tax obligations attributable to the regulated portion of the business during the test period.


OPG's regulated payment amounts for hydroelectric and nuclear production were frozen for three years by government regulation, while the regulated rates were based on a forecast of costs for the three years 2005 to 2008.  The rates were averaged to produce one consistent fixed amount for each technology for the entire three-year period.  I point this out to note that the deficiency caused by the forecast revenue requirement for the test period has to be measured or has to be looked at as relative not to OPG's actual costs of operation for 2007, but to three-year average forecast 2005 to 2007 costs, which, of course, in their own time was based on an estimate of costs originally done in 2004.


The revenue deficiency relative to that average fixed payment amount for 2005-2007 is -- that existed in 2005-2007 is shown by technology at page seven of this bundle, taken from A1.3.1, table 3.  The deficiency in the hydroelectric business is 244.6 million, and the deficiency in the nuclear business is 784.6 million, for a combined total of 1 billion, 29 million, point 2.


Now, the key drivers of OPG's revenue deficiency are summarized in Exhibit A1.3.1, pages eight to ten, and although the revenue requirement and the revenue deficiency are made up of many things, at a high level the three most significant contributors to the revenue deficiency are:   First, OPG's application for a market based cost of capital.  Second, increases in OPG's cost of providing for the nuclear liabilities into the future.  And three, certain operating costs, the main one of which is labour-related costs, which of course includes general labour rate escalation, increases in pension and other post employment benefits, and the additional cost of providing for new skilled labour in the face of an aging demographic in the current workforce.

Then there are additional expenditures arising out of a variety of new initiatives mandated by OPG's shareholder, including the improvement of the material condition of the nuclear plants, planning and preparation for new facilities, and the safe storage project for Pickering A units 2 and 3.


Now just dealing briefly with the cost of capital, OPG is seeking a capital structure consisting of 57.5 percent equity and 42.5 percent debt, in return on equity of 10.5 percent for the prescribed assets.  The payments prescribed by regulation assumed a 45 percent equity and 55 percent debt capital structure and only a 5 percent return.  A 5 percent return, it will be OPG's evidence is clearly not sustainable on any commercial basis and is inconsistent with the clear policy directive that OPG is to operate as a commercial enterprise and become financially self-sustaining.

The evidence is that OPG phases higher risks than a typical regulated utility in Canada.  Because this is OPG's first application, there is no track record of stable or consistent regulation and therefore there is also regulatory uncertainty about the end state and about OPG's ability under regulation to recover its reasonable costs.


Further uncertainty results from the hybrid nature of Ontario's energy market in which OPG effectively competes against unregulated energy sources.


OPG's dominant risk, however, is that the nuclear generating plants will not operate as planned.  Nuclear technology is complex, the capital investment is huge; OPG's fleet is an amalgam of three generations of CANDU reactors, the newest of which, Darlington, is more than 20 years old, and the oldest of which, Pickering A, was built over 40 years ago.  As a result, OPG's tends to be the first or one of the first in the industry to encounter maintenance and reliability issues with the aging CANDU fleet.


OPG has, in fact, as the evidence shows, experienced a number of major unplanned events which have had a significant impact on the ability to achieve OPG's nuclear production forecasts.


OPG, therefore, faces significant risk of lower-than-expected revenues due to longer or more frequent outages and higher-than-expected costs to repair and maintain the nuclear facilities.  And by way of indication of that exposure, for every terawatt shortfall at the proposed variable rate under this application of $41.50 per megawatt, that's equal to $41.5 million reduction in revenue per year.


As a generation-only business, OPG's regulated operations have no "low risk" monopoly wires or distribution pipe operations.  Generation is inherently subject to higher market and competitive risks and is also subject to higher operating and production risks than traditional wires or pipelines operations.


While there is some risk-sharing, some risk-sharing of nuclear waste obligations with the government, the long-run risk of nuclear liability remains a significant factor for OPG.  OPG also faces uncertainty around how its payments -- payment amounts will be established and the risk of further political intervention in the energy markets.


Finally, OPG phases significant levels of capital expenditure in the future for refurbishment and new plant development, and these two will expose OPG to significant cost-recovery risk in the future.


Now on the nuclear liabilities front, just very briefly.  The nuclear liability increases the test period result -- sorry, in the test period -- resulted from a 2006 revised reference plan under the Ontario Nuclear Funding Agreement.


As a result of the new approved reference plan, OPG was obliged to record an additional 1.386 billion of nuclear waste liabilities in its financial statements and the increased nuclear liabilities largely result from the updating of financial parameters that is discount rate and earnings on the fund, the extended life of the Bruce units, because that adds to the amount of nuclear waste that needs to be dealt with, and an assessment of recent experience in the US around the forecasting of the costs of nuclear plant decommissioning.


On the labour costs front, it is important to note that 90 percent of OPG's workforce is unionized.  OPG's operations also require unusually high skill levels from its employees by virtue of the complex nature of the technologies.


These people are not easy to find, particularly because Bruce Power is committed to a refurbishment and life-extension program of its own at the Bruce nuclear generating station.

As noted, the demographics of -- and you have heard this before.  This is common in the energy industry.  The demographics of OPG's workforce is aging, and it is estimated over 30 percent of OPG's workforce will need to be replaced over the next four years.


Another implication of aging workforce demographics, of course, is the cost of pension and other post-employment benefits.  Like many industries with a maturing workforce, OPG is facing higher costs in order to fund its pension and post-employment benefits.


Then let me turn from revenue requirements to the structure of payment amounts.  Although nuclear technology is complex, the operational paradigm is actually quite simple.  Because of the huge capital costs involved, you want nuclear plants to operate at maximum capacity as much as possible, given established technical and safety parameters.

The risk of unforecast loss production and unforecast increases in operations and maintenance costs associated with extended or unplanned outages, we say - OPG says - are incentive enough to maximize the safe and efficient operation of the stations, and, therefore, OPG is not seeking any form of incentive payment for the nuclear facilities.


OPG is, however, proposing an improved incentive mechanism for the hydroelectric payments.  OPG can use its hydroelectric assets to shift water and result -- and the result of that is to have more electricity production in periods of high demand and less in periods of low demand.

The regulations already provide for an incentive mechanism in respect of hydroelectric.  It is pretty simple.  For all production over 1,900 megawatt hours, OPG gets the market price.


However, notwithstanding that this incentive was, in the historic period of 2005 to 2007, financially advantageous to OPG, the company's experience has shown that the existing incentive does not always provide the correct incentive to maximize production to meet peak demand.

Accordingly, OPG has developed a more nuanced mechanism based on the relationship of production to market price in order to further improvement OPG's incentive to maximize production during times when the electricity is most needed and, therefore, when it is most valuable.


So under this proposal, OPG estimates that time shifting water and operating the pump generating station in the Niagara Plant Group during peak hours could reduce the hourly energy price in Ontario by between 40 cents and $1.20 per megawatt hour, and that could result in estimated annual savings for customers ranging from anywhere from $80 million to $270 million.

OPG's incentive payments for achieving these marked deficiencies are forecast to be, in relation to those numbers, a relatively modest $12 million.


The other change that OPG is seeking in this application from the structure of the payment amounts prescribed by the regulation is to restructure payment amounts for nuclear production from 100 percent variable to a combination of fixed monthly payment and a variable payment.


The costs of OPG's nuclear facilities are over 90 percent fixed.  OPG, accordingly, bears a significant risk when its entire revenue requirement is recovered through a variable payment.

Other utilities and generators in Ontario and other jurisdictions recover fixed costs through fixed payments.  Accordingly, OPG is seeking a relatively modest 25 percent of fixed costs recovery through a fixed monthly payment, leaving 75 percent of its costs to be recovered on the basis of variable energy payments.


In conclusion, I have outlined what, in our submission, this hearing will be about and the main themes.  I should perhaps comment on some aspects of what, in our submission, this hearing is not about.


The OEB's mandate here is clearly not to conduct a Royal Commission on the history of Ontario Hydro or on the history of energy management in the province of Ontario.  OPG inherited its generation assets in 1999 shortly after it was first incorporated as a business corporation.

The OEB's mandate in this case is practical and straightforward.  What are the costs of operating the prescribed assets in 2008/2009, and how should the payment amounts be structured to recover those costs?


Your role is not to decide whether it was a good idea or a bad idea, for example, to have built the existing nuclear fleet, nor is it your mandate to second guess the historical decisions of Ontario Hydro's management or, for that matter, even OPG's management from hindsight or any other perspective.

Whatever happened in the past, for whatever reason, and whether it was or wasn't the right choice, is not before us in this proceeding.  In this proceeding, we're concerned with the future.  What are the reasonable costs of operations and how should they be recovered?


This hearing is also not about whether nuclear power is a good thing or whether nuclear fleet facilities should or should not make up part of Ontario's supply mix in the future.  Those issues are, of course, the preserve the Ontario government, the OPA and this Board in the context of its pending review of the OPA's Integrated Power Supply Plan.


So with that overview, Mr. Chairman, unless there are any questions, let me call our first witness panel to address rate base and cost of capital.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. PENNY:  Mr. Chairman we have this morning Mr. David Halperin, starting on your right, Mr. Fred Long and Ms. Colleen Sidford.  Perhaps the witnesses could be sworn.

ONTARIO POWER GENERATION - PANEL 1


David Halperin, Affirmed


Fred Long, Sworn


Colleen Sidford, Affirmed

Examination-in-Chief by Mr. Penny:


MR. PENNY:  I will start with you, Ms. Sidford.  You are currently the vice president and treasurer of Ontario Power Authority?


MS. SIDFORD:  I am.


MR. PENNY:  Your CV lists broadly your areas of responsibility, but, in particular, you are responsible for the corporate treasury function, which includes treasury operations and insurance risk management, pension fund management and nuclear fund management?


MS. SIDFORD:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  I understand that you have a degree from the Ontario College of Art?


MS. SIDFORD:  I do.


MR. PENNY:  And you have been with the OPG from 2003 to -- 2005 as the vice president and treasurer and assistant treasurer over the course of that period?


MS. SIDFORD:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  Now, Mr. Long, you, as I understand it, are the vice president of financial planning for OPG?


MR. LONG:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  And your responsibilities as vice president financial planning, including directing the company's financial and business planning, management reporting and financial assessment of investment opportunities?


MR. LONG:  That's right.


MR. PENNY:  It also includes managing the company's property tax function?


MR. LONG:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  And you, sir, have a BA in physics from Essex University in the UK?


MR. LONG:  I do.


MR. PENNY:  You have a Ph.D. in physics from McMaster, which you obtained in 1976?


MR. LONG:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  You have been with OPG since 1976, as I understand it?


MR. LONG:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  You have occupied various positions, but since 1999 have been in a position either the same as or similar to the position you now hold?


MR. LONG:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  All right, thank you.  Mr. Halperin, you're the director of business and financial planning with the corporate finance group of OPG?


MR. HALPERIN:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  As the director of finance and business planning, your responsibilities include developing, implementing and managing the annual corporate business planning process?


MR. HALPERIN:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  You, sir, have a bachelor of applied science and industrial engineering from the University of Toronto?


MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  And you have a master's of business administration from the University of Toronto, obtained in 1982?


MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  And you have been in your present position or related positions since 1999 --


MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  -- with OPG?  And prior to that, with various other positions going back to 1979.


MR. HALPERIN:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  Thank you.  You, panel, as a group, are responsible for the evidence in this filing relating to rate base, the cost of debt and business planning process, and the undertakings that relate to those areas, and I would ask you to confirm that that evidence collectively was prepared by you or under your supervision.


MS. SIDFORD:  That's correct.


MR. LONG:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  Do you adopt that evidence for the purposes of this hearing?


MR. LONG:  We do.


MS. SIDFORD:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  Thank you.  Mr. Chairman, I have no further examination-in-chief for this panel.  So they're available -- and I should have said at the outset, Mr. Chairman, we did do a canvass of timing, and it looked like, based on the assessments of counsel, that we had about four-and-a-half hours for this panel, so there is a reasonable prospect of completing them today.

I did indicate to my friends that as a result of the changes to the commencement of the hearing dates, Ms. Sidford has a business travel plan that involves the -- her insurance risk management portfolio, which requires her to be on leave tomorrow morning for -- to be out of the country.


So it looks like we will safely get through it, but if circumstances require, we may have to adjust a little bit to deal with that.


MR. KAISER:  All right, thank you.  Mr. Rodger.
Cross-examination by Mr. Rodger:


MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


Good morning, panel.  I am asking questions this morning on behalf of the AMPCO, Association of Major Power Consumers in Ontario.  I wanted to start off by looking at some of the evidence that you have prefiled in this case having to do with the rating agency reports and, really, what you are looking for the Board to take from this evidence that you filed as part of your application.

If I can step back for a moment and just confirm what I understand your evidence to be as to the general purpose and nature of these rating agency reports.  Am I correct when I say that the purpose -- the main purpose of these reports are to be really used as a tool by financial markets as the independent opinion of the general creditworthiness of any particular company?  Is that a fair summary?


MS. SIDFORD:  That's correct.


MR. RODGER:  And I understand that part of your process is that you meet with rating agencies and they review your actual results, your strategies, your operational performance, your financial forecasts; is that fair?


MS. SIDFORD:  That's correct.


MR. RODGER:  Now, Ms. Sidford, how often do these meetings occurs with the rating agencies?


MS. SIDFORD:  We have one general meeting per year, so on an annual basis with each of the rating agencies who rate OPG.


MR. RODGER:  Are you actually a member of the OPG executive team that meets with the agencies yourself?


MS. SIDFORD:  Yes, I am.


MR. RODGER:  And your evidence also states that the agencies, that they incorporate many -- I think your words were quantitative and qualitative considerations in determining the rating and the creditworthiness of OPG; is that correct?


MS. SIDFORD:  That's correct.


MR. RODGER:  Would you agree with me, Ms. Sidford, that when we talk about the general issue of creditworthiness, would you agree with me that this is ultimately an assessment of risk?  It's the assessment of risk of an ability of a person or a company to meet their obligations as they become due?


MS. SIDFORD:  I would agree it's an assessment of risk and potential for default, because it is primarily to do with lending.


MR. RODGER:  When you have met with these rating agencies over the years, would you also agree with me that the fact that the province of Ontario is OPG's sole shareholder, it is a consideration that the rating agencies take into account when determining OPG's creditworthiness?


MS. SIDFORD:  Yes.  They have made that public.


MR. RODGER:  Would you agree with me that in fact the government ownership, it's a very significant or a very important consideration that the agencies take into account?


MS. SIDFORD:  I can't comment on how important, but it is a stated support that agencies recognize.


MR. RODGER:  Well, maybe you could just turn briefly to a couple of the reports that you filed in your evidence.  There are two.  The first is from DBRS, and that is found in -- it's volume 1, tab A2.


MS. SIDFORD:  I have it.


MR. RODGER:  Schedule 3, attachment A.  Exhibit A2, tab 3, schedule 1, attachment A.


Do you have that, Mr. Chairman?


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MR. RODGER:  This is DBRS's rating of OPG, and the report date is November 30th of 2007.


If you see under the rating considerations under strengths, number 4, the fourth strength is support of the shareholder, the province of Ontario.  Do you see that?


MS. SIDFORD:  I do.


MR. RODGER:  If you flip over a few pages to appendix B - and this is the Standard & Poor's - this is dated December 9th, 2005, if you have that.  On the first page of this report, under the heading "Major Rating Factors, Strengths", the second bullet is government ownership and implied financial support.


Then if you turn, staying with the Standard & Poor's report, and you go to page 12, this is under a paragraph entitled "Financial Flexibility", the first sentence of that paragraph reads:

"The keystone to OPG's average financial flexibility is its supportive owner, with deep pockets and demonstrated record of support."


So I read those quotes and I came to the conclusion that this is, in fact, a pretty important consideration that the agencies consider when determining your creditworthiness, the fact that you are owned by the province of Ontario.  Is that fair?


MS. SIDFORD:  It helps, yes.


MR. RODGER:  It helps.


Would you go one step further and agree with me that your ownership by the province, it actually directly impacts on what rating you receive?

MS. SIDFORD:  That's correct.  They stated that it moves us up two notches on the rating scale.


MR. RODGER:  Two notches.  And that was, I believe, in the Standard & Poor's report.  I believe if you go to page 2, and this is again of attachment B -- yes, under "Rationale" under page 2, it says:

"OPG's ownership by the province significantly enhances the creditworthiness of the company."


I think the reference that you just mentioned, Ms. Sidford -- yes, if you go to page -- I think it is 5 of 14, under "Rating Methodology", I think this is what you were referring to.  It states:

"Government shareholder support is a significant factor, two notches in the final rating outcome of OPG."


It goes on to talk about another report that Standard & Poor's has developed entitled "Credit FAQ, Implied government support as a rating factor for Hydro One Inc. and Ontario Power Generation", published October 20th, 2005.


By the way, I tried to access that on the website and I couldn't obtain it.  Would you be able to provide us with a copy of that report?

MS. SIDFORD:  That report has been filed into evidence under Kathleen McShane's --


MR. RODGER:  It's already in the evidence?


MS. SIDFORD:  It is already in the evidence.


MR. RODGER:  Got you.  I take it given this review we have just gone through and these various rating agencies' reports, I take it you would agree with me that government ownership of OPG, it is more than just happenstance or by chance in terms of the impact on the rating.  It actually translates into a higher rating for OPG?


MS. SIDFORD:  I don't disagree with that.  That's correct.


MR. RODGER:  You agree with that?


MS. SIDFORD:  I do.


MR. RODGER:  And by enjoying a higher credit rating because of who owns you, would you also agree with me that this is a real and tangible indicator that the agencies believe that you are lower risk?


MS. SIDFORD:  I believe that is true.


MR. RODGER:  Now, in your dialogue with the agencies over the years, have they ever suggested or recommended to OPG or to your shareholder, to your knowledge, that you pursue separate cost of capitals for water-powered versus nuclear-powered generation assets?


MS. SIDFORD:  I don't believe they have.


MR. RODGER:  All right.  I would like to turn now to some questions around business planning, but it is business planning in a particular context.

So in part of your evidence, you have given us 13 pages of an overview of your business planning and budgeting process.  Just for the record, it is Exhibit A2, tab 2, schedule 1.


I am going to suggest to you that kind of overlaying your process that you describe in this prefiled evidence is the context of the decision that your shareholder made back in 2004/2005 to establish your return on equity at 5 percent.


So what I would like to understand is how OPG, as a company, kind of at a high level and as a practical matter, when you have been doing your business planning, how has this 5 percent ROE impacted your planning when it comes to the question of how much you invest in your regulated assets?


MR. LONG:  In terms of our business plans and investment decisions, we have used -- we have not used a 5 percent return on equity in that determination.  In one of the interrogatories - I can find a reference, if you wish - we describe the discount rate that we have used, and it was based on a 10 percent ROE and the 45 percent -- 45/55 capital structure that the province's advisor recommended prior to the establishment of regulated rates.  That was what we felt was an appropriate basis for decision-making, rather than the 5 percent that the province finally landed on.


MR. RODGER:  I see.  So you have assumed, for business planning, a different set of financial parameters than really the reality on the ground, the 5 percent ROE?


MR. LONG:  The 5 percent ROE was the basis for the interim regulated rates.  We do not believe that that's an appropriate parameter for decision making.


MR. RODGER:  So over the past few years, then, would it have made any difference to your investment planning, your investment decisions, if your actual ROE set by the province was higher or lower than 5 percent?


MR. LONG:  Without looking at the individual decisions and business cases, it is hard for me to definitively answer that question.  But certainly, in principle, yes, if you change the discount rate and you are looking at discretionary investments that depend on creating value, then a higher or lower discount rate can affect the decision.


MR. RODGER:  Let me put it this way, Mr. Long.  When you were doing your business planning over the past few years, since 2004/2005, at any time did you say, you know, Gee, if our return on equity -- because it is only 5 percent, we're not going to invest as much capital into regulated assets as we would have if the ROE was higher?


MR. LONG:  Sorry, can you repeat that question?

MR. RODGER:  Yes.  In your planning over the past few years, did you ever look at your ROE and say, Well, geez, it is only at 5 percent; therefore, we're in the going to invest as much in our regulated capital assets, because of this ROE?


MR. LONG:  No.


MR. RODGER:  So if the ROE was actually set at what you're asking for now, 10.5 percent, back in 2005, would that have meant that you would have increased your amount of investment in regulated assets?


MR. LONG:  Again, I can't say definitively, but it may have had a minor impact, yes.


MR. RODGER:  I guess what I'm trying to understand is:  The fact that your ROE was set at 5 percent back in 2004 and 2005, does that essentially have a neutral effect on how much you invest in your regulated prescribed assets?


MR. LONG:  As I stated earlier, we did not use a 5 percent assumption in that decision making.


MR. RODGER:  That's why I say it is neutral, because it actually is irrelevant, isn't it, because you have said you assumed a different set of financial parameters, in any event, that don't reflect the reality set by the province?


MR. LONG:  We took the 5 percent -- and I think this is, I think, clear in some of the material that the government published at the time of establishing the interim rates.  We took the 5 percent as being an interim position.


If we thought that that was going to be a permanent cost of capital item, then I think things would have been different.  But we felt that an appropriate commercial rate of return, in the absence of any detailed cost of capital study, which we now have the benefit of, that that was a much better parameter used for decision making in the interim than the 5 percent.


MR. RODGER:  Would you agree with me, Mr. Long, when I say that since 2004/2005, when you have been doing your business planning, that you felt in no way constrained in the amount of capital spending that you may want to do with respect to regulated prescribed assets as a result of this 5 percent ROE set by the province; is that fair?


MR. LONG:  As a result of the 5 percent?  No.


MR. RODGER:  Is part of the reason why you wouldn't feel constrained is that all of your long-term funding is through OEFC, anyway, so really your ROE doesn't matter?  You are not going out to the private debt markets.  You are funding through OEFC and, as I say, it is a different situation from other businesses that have to go to the market for their long-term needs, which may have relevant implications, such as cash flow, et cetera.  You are in a different situation.


MR. LONG:  We certainly did take into account our overall financial position in deciding what was and was not affordable.


So I don't think it is -- you know, it's true that that type of thinking or decision making was based solely on the assumption that we could always go to OEFC for our funding.


MR. RODGER:  To give you a real-life example, your return on equity was set at 5 percent by the shareholder.  That was their conscious decision.  That has implications for cash flow, among other implications.

There is new capital demands come along, such as the Niagara tunnel but, really, cash flow or ROE is irrelevant, because you go to OEFC and you get funded?


MR. LONG:  Well, in the case of the Niagara tunnel, we were directed to undertake that project by the province, and, along with that directive, they agreed to provide the necessary financing.


MR. RODGER:  See, in the -- I think the rating agencies have also picked up on this theme.  If you can bear with me for a moment and return to the DBRS report, and if you can look at page 10 of that report.  Again, this is Exhibit A2, tab 3, schedule 1, attachment A, and on page 10, this is talking about long-term obligations.  And at the first full paragraph under the chart, the last line, it talks about various projects the Niagara tunnel, the portlands and so on.  The last sentence reads:
"It is expected that OPG will not undertake any major capital projects without being assured of financing and an in-place cost recovery mechanism, thus minimizing financial risks."


I guess when I read that, I took the conclusion that isn't the rating agency essentially saying as long as OEFC financing is available and the OPG can be reasonably assured of recovering prudent costs under the regulatory environment, then you can take such investments with minimal risk, and things like ROE are really not relevant.  Isn't that fair?


MR. LONG:  I don't think that is what it is saying.  This is really a restatement of information that we provided the rating agencies which expresses the position of our board, that for many of these projects, they would not be able to survive as merchant entities --


MR. RODGER:  Yes.


MR. LONG:  -- that our board would only undertake them if they were assured of some form of cost recovery mechanism, whether it is through regulation or power purchase agreement, and also that funding is available, but that funding does not just have to be available from the OEFC.


MR. RODGER:  But all of your long-term funding is through the OEFC, is it not?


MR. LONG:  To date.  To date.


MR. RODGER:  Are you planning in the future to actually go to the market and not use OEFC for --


MS. SIDFORD:  Yes, we are.


MR. RODGER:  When would that be?


MS. SIDFORD:  We prepared our plan to go to the market by the end of 2009 so that we are ready for refinancing that we need in early 2010.


MR. RODGER:  So are you saying by that time OEFC is not going to be used at all?


MS. SIDFORD:  I think we should make it clear that the -- we don't automatically get funding from OEFC, although historically since OPG became OPG, that has been the case.  But each time there is borrowing through the OEFC, there is, as Fred pointed out, a directive that says:  If we tell you to do this project, we will provide the funding that is needed for it, if it cannot be attained in the commercial market.


MR. RODGER:  And have you ever received any kind of report or feedback from the rating agencies on this proposed new approach for the future on how this -- the rating reports would change?


MS. SIDFORD:  I think every one of the rating reports we have had so far has contemplated that OPG will eventually become self-funding.  They haven't made a comment on the change of ratings, but they look at it as a positive.


MR. RODGER:  I have one question about short-term debt.  For this one, if you could please turn up volume 2 of the prefiled evidence?  It is Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 3, table 1.


This is a table 1 entitled "Capitalization and cost of capital, summary of OPG's forecast cost of short-term debt."


I will make sure the Panel has that.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. RODGER:  I am interested, panel, in the 2008 column, column D.  It is the top four lines, the commercial paper account.  Just let me see if I understand this correctly.  The commercial paper amount is shown as $43 million.  I take it this is the amount that you actually anticipate borrowing?


MS. SIDFORD:  On a short-term basis.


MR. RODGER:  Short-term basis commercial paper; is that correct?


MS. SIDFORD:  That's correct.


MR. RODGER:  The 5.13 percent is the actual interest rate on the 43 million?


MS. SIDFORD:  Yes.


MR. RODGER:  The 1.4 million, called a facility charge.  I take it this is the equivalent of almost like a standby charge.  If OPG could not, for whatever reason, access commercial paper in the market, then the financial institution would provide that for you; is that right?


MS. SIDFORD:  That's the cost of having what is called a backup line, a support line for commercial paper.


MR. RODGER:  Yes.  You pay that whether you use it or not, I take it?


MS. SIDFORD:  You pay a fee for the unused portion, yes.


MR. RODGER:  Because -- and the total forecast cost here is 1.4 million?


MS. SIDFORD:  On an annual basis, yes.


MR. RODGER:  On an annual basis.  That gives us total costs of the commercial paper cost of 3.6 million.


What I did, I took the 3.6 million and divided it by the 43 million, and then I multiplied by it by 120 (sic) percentage, I get an effective short-term borrowing rate of 8.4 percent.


My question is that my understanding is that 90-day treasury bills, the interest rate is about 2.7 percent.  It just seemed to AMPCO that this was a very expensive short-term financing cost.  I am just wondering if you can explain.  Have you explored ways to reduce this?


MS. SIDFORD:  Well, you cannot -- commercial paper is the cheap -- one of the cheapest forms of short-term debt.  You can't issue commercial paper unless you have a backup supporting line of credit.  So investors won't buy your paper.  So you need that support.


Now, that line of credit is or that credit facility is for other purposes than just commercial paper, so it is -- what happens if we are unable to issue commercial paper, we can borrow directly on that line.


MR. RODGER:  Am I correct at the end of the day that is your borrowing costs?  It is 8.4 percent on commercial paper?


MS. SIDFORD:  I don't know if that is correct, because I haven't done the similar calculation.


MR. LONG:  Seems to be about correct.


MR. RODGER:  All right.  I want to just talk about, for a moment, this combination of activities in your company regulated and unregulated.


You will agree with me, I think, that our electricity sector in Ontario is often referred to as a hybrid market that is kind of an interesting combination of regulated and unregulated entities; is that fair?


MR. LONG:  I think that term is often used, yes.


MR. RODGER:  And would you agree with me that this description could also apply to your company, OPG?  It is also a form of hybrid.  You have unregulated activities and, the subject of this hearing, regulated prescribed assets; is that fair?


MR. LONG:  We have regulated and unregulated operations, I agree.


MR. RODGER:  Would you object if I referred to OPG as a hybrid company?


MR. LONG:  No.


MR. RODGER:  And do you also agree that this regulated side of your business, this is going to be a permanent part of your business operations; do you agree with that?


MR. LONG:  That's the assumption that we use, yes.


MR. RODGER:  At least at this time, there is no shelf life anticipated for these regulated prescribed assets.  They're here to stay, for all we know?


MR. LONG:  Certainly for the foreseeable future, yes.


MR. RODGER:  Now, back to your business planning that you have done.


Have you ever considered formally separating the regulated asset side of the business from the unregulated side of the business into two separate groups, two distinct companies?


MR. LONG:  No.


MR. RODGER:  No.  And you will be aware, Mr. Long, that for other parts of this hybrid market, particularly for local distribution sector and for the transmission sector, that cross-subsidization of regulated and non-regulated activities is a big concern for this Board?  Are you aware of that?


MR. LONG:  Generally, yes.


MR. RODGER:  And would you agree that it is legitimate concern for regulators?  The Board doesn't want ratepayers to have to pay any hidden unregulated costs in the regulated rates that it sets?


MR. LONG:  Yes.


MR. RODGER:  And are you also aware that for the distribution sector, that the Board has put in place an Affiliate Relationships Code that deals with rules and accountability about how regulated and unregulated affiliate activities interact?


MR. LONG:  I am aware of the existence of the Code, but not its details.


MR. RODGER:  Are you aware that the Affiliate Relationships Code is a licensed condition of distributors and transmitters in Ontario?


MR. LONG:  I wasn't aware of that, no.


MR. RODGER:  Now, AMPCO is interested in understanding, for example, with respect to your water assets, water regulated and unregulated assets that interact an share overheads and costs, how it can be assured that costs are not being shifted from unregulated to regulated assets; in other words, that there is no cross-subsidies at OPG.


Where would you point me in the evidence that deals with this question?


MR. LONG:  Well, it is not a question that I am -- I was prepared to speak to here.


I believe there is material in the evidence that deals with the cost allocation question and how that has been dealt with, but I am not prepared to speak to that evidence.


MR. RODGER:  Well, perhaps --


MR. PENNY:  Mr. Chairman, I can advise Mr. Rodger, through you, that the people who can speak to the allocation of costs with respect to the hydroelectric assets would be a combination of the hydroelectric core panel and, to the extent that any head office-related costs are allocated, the corporate panel, which will be coming up later.


MR. KAISER:  Do you want to leave it to that panel, Mr. Rodger?


MR. RODGER:  Yes, I think I will ask for the high level, then.  At your level, Mr. Long, and for business planning, I take it that avoiding cross-subsidization is a concern for OPG; do you agree with that?


MR. LONG:  In our planning, we do deal with is segmentation of the business, but what is of most important there is -- are the consolidated results.  So it is less of a concern there than it is in preparing the application for this Board.


MR. RODGER:  Maybe I will save these for the other panel, but let me ask you, again, from a high-level business context, if one of the goals of becoming a regulated entity is disclosure and transparency, would OPG have any objection, in principle, to being subject to a code that could be like the Affiliate Relationships Code, which becomes parts of your license condition, so that there is a formal framework which parties and Board and the utility can work within to deal with these issues, in principle, as a business planning context.  Do you have any -- would you have any objection to that?


MR. PENNY:  Well, Mr. Chairman, I am not sure that this -- I mean, I am not sure this panel is the right panel.  I need to think about who that is.  It is really a policy question, which I think would maybe require some thought.


I don't think, frankly, that the question is really related to business planning, as such.  As Mr. Long has just indicated, the audited financial statements of the company, which are audited by external auditors, are presented on a regulated and unregulated basis.


MR. RODGER:  I would just say, Mr. Chairman, it is certainly a central planning issue for distributors that have to deal with such a code, and I would have thought that given Mr. Long's position, that this might be at least an area he could provide his opinion on.


MR. KAISER:  Well, Mr. Penny, I think it is a legitimate question.  This may not be the time and place to deal with it.  Perhaps you could take it under consideration and you will advise Mr. Rodger who might be the appropriate person to address that and when.


MR. PENNY:  Yes, that is satisfactory, Mr. Chairman.  I think if Mr. Rodger wants to ask about whether -- I think he already has, whether the business planning specifically takes account of this issue, I think this is the panel to address the question.  I think the broader question I would like to think about, but we will get back to Mr. Rodger on that and to the Board.


MR. RODGER:  Maybe just to clarify, Mr. Long, on that basis, on a business planning point of view, does this really come into your group's consciousness at all how the company, given you are going -- that you are a regulated entity, how you would approach these issues to ensure that intervenors and the Board have the transparency that is required to deal with this cross-subsidization question?


MR. LONG:  To the extent that these issues have been addressed in our application, and in addressing those issues there are -- there's work or work programs in various parts of the company to deal with, for instance, the question of developing an appropriate allocation methodology, then, yes, I mean, that would be a work program that would be part of the business plan for that area of the company.


MR. RODGER:  Well, I will leave the rest of the questions on this area for another panel, Mr. Chairman.


Just I think one other area.  Just bear with me.


It also has to do with the business planning and budgeting process.


I wanted to understand, given your prefiled evidence, at a high level, how certain what I will call performance situations or events feed into your business planning and budgeting cycle.


For example, if we suppose that OPG were to find itself with a track record of deteriorating productivity and increased costs per unit of output over time, what is it in your planning process that alerts you to such developments?


MR. LONG:  I think if there were such developments, it wouldn't, first and foremost, show up in the planning process.  I think it would show up in the actual results.


MR. RODGER:  Surely the results feed back into your planning process, given the descriptions in your evidence about developing business cases and iterations of business cases, and so on?  At some point it has to lead back to you, doesn't it?


MR. LONG:  Yes.  If there were a concern in any area, then that would be a signal that the executive -- senior executive of the company would need to establish certain objectives in that area, which would then feed into the front end of the business planning process and the organization as a whole would need to address in their plans.


MR. RODGER:  And that answer you just gave me, is that something that there has been a track record of since the start of OPG, that kind of cycle of what I will call the alert to issues coming back and being folded back into the planning process?  This is just a standard part of your business since OPG was formed?


MR. LONG:  Certainly.  You know, there are objectives, you know, established for the company as a whole at the beginning of each business planning cycle.


MR. RODGER:  And if you have this kind of alert process built into your planning process, once you are alerted to it, can you identify what mechanisms you may have in your planning process to remedy the situation of deteriorating productivity or increasing costs?


Can you give me any practical examples of the mechanisms to fix the issue?


MR. LONG:  Well, first of all, there would be clearly the identification of the issue, and, generally, the first step would be that the various parts of the company would be asked to make proposals regarding those issues in their areas.  And, you know, the whole business planning process is a bit of an iterative process, where there are proposals and plans put forward, reviewed, priorities established, and so forth.


MR. RODGER:  So it is -- could I describe it as a series of scrutinies around issues and budgets and targets and whether they're met or whether they're not met?


MR. LONG:  There is a series of reviews that cover all manner of issues.


MR. RODGER:  And what happens if, you know, you have identified the problem, you have had this series of iterations where you are dealing with means to try and fix it?  What about consequences if the results aren't achieved that you want the following year?  Are the consequences part of the component also in your business planning cycle?

Could you give me an example of the consequences?


MR. LONG:  Well, the consequences, per se, aren't part of the planning process.  They're part of things like the compensation scheme, you know, that is in place where there are consequences for individuals.


MR. RODGER:  I see.  I take it that what we have just described, this has all been part of your business planning process since OPG was created?


MR. LONG:  In essence, yes.


MR. RODGER:  I take it you agree such mechanisms are appropriate and prudent in the business planning cycle and the budgeting cycle?


MR. LONG:  We think we have a robust process.


MR. RODGER:  We asked you these, Mr. Long, because AMPCO would be concerned that if such components are not part of your business planning process, then the end result would be that customers would simply pick up the tab through higher costs.  Would that be a fair conclusion, in the absence of those kind of mechanisms?


MR. PENNY:  I'm sorry, Mr. Chairman, but that sounds like Mr. Rodger is arguing his case at this point.  I am not sure what the question to the witness panel is.


MR. KAISER:  Maybe you could restate it, Mr. Rodger.


MR. RODGER:  That these type of -- would you agree that these types of checks and balances, if I can call it, they really are critical, because if higher costs, overruns or lack of productivities aren't fixed, then it is -- the customers are the ones that end up paying; isn't that true?


MR. LONG:  Maybe I will restate it the way I...


I think those mechanisms represent good management, and, you know, one of the consequences of good management is a reasonable control of costs.


MR. RODGER:  Those are my questions.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger.  Mr. Thompson.


MR. THOMPSON:  Could I stand down a bit, Mr. Chairman, just to become more familiar with this company?


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Who is next?  Mr. Warren, are you ready to go?

Cross-examination by Mr. Warren:


MR. WARREN:  Thank you, Panel.


Panel, I would like to begin, if I can, with some follow-up questions on the business planning process.


Part of that -- part of these questions will be sorting out the respective roles of the members of the panel in that business planning process.


Let me use as an example, as I read the prefiled evidence - and I am sure you will correct me if I am wrong - there is a process whereby a proposal for a project begins -- does it begin with the divisions?  For example, the hydroelectric division.  If there is a proposal for a particular project, it begins there, and then moves up through various levels, up to ultimately your level?  Mr. Halperin, is that the way it works?


MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  You referred to something called a BC -- BSC.  I know I am going to mix those up, so I apologize, but the BSC is a, what?


MR. LONG:  BCS.


MR. WARREN:  BCS, okay.


MR. LONG:  It is an acronym for business case summary, and it is a document that, as the title suggests, summarizes the business case for the proposal.


MR. WARREN:  And that business case summary is prepared.  Are there two versions of it?  Is there a preliminary version, and then a final version of it?


MR. LONG:  Yes.  There's likely to be, you know, a number of versions that become more rigorous over time as the proposal gets fleshed out and developed.  So at a very early stage, you know, it may be an idea and a sense that it has got certain benefits, and that may be sufficient to keep the process going.  It goes to the next stage.  You work out exactly what some of the details are and what some of the benefits are.

And the BCS, as it is termed, the final BCS is what -- is the summary and the business case that is used to actually get release of funds to actually proceed with the project.


MR. WARREN:  Who prepares that final BCS?


MR. LONG:  The proponent.


MR. WARREN:  And the proponent, would that be somebody within the -- let's say the hydroelectric division?


MR. LONG:  It could be in any group within the organization who is -- you know, who wants to undertake a project.


MR. WARREN:  Is it for me, panel, to draw a distinction between what happens -- I am going to use hydroelectric for the moment for these examples.  Is it fair for me to say there is a business planning process which takes place within the hydroelectric division, and then it moves up to your level, or are you part of the process throughout?


MR. LONG:  We're not really a big player in the process.


There is a framework for a process, you know, that is established that the whole corporation follows.  So the business cases themselves are put together by, you know, the proponent of a project; in this case, say, hydroelectric.


It then -- depending on the significance of the project dollar-wise or strategic-wise, it is then subject to authorities that need to be involved, in terms of approval, as well as functional groups that need to be involved in the review, and all of this is described in the evidence.


MR. WARREN:  I appreciate it is set out in the evidence, and I am trying to understand what it means, and I have to take it in baby steps, for which I apologize.


Now, there is something called an organizational authority register; is that correct?


MR. LONG:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Am I right in understanding that the organizational authority register reduced to its essence is a list of who can approve what projects of what kind at what budget levels; is that right?


MR. LONG:  That's part of it.  It includes more than that.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, let me use the example of the Niagara tunnel project.


As I understand what you said to -- what's in the evidence and what you said to my friend, Mr. Rodger, that was a project that your shareholder told you to embark upon; is that right?


MR. LONG:  That's my understanding, yes.


MR. WARREN:  When you say it is your understanding, you folks represent the highest level of corporate planning, in terms of business planning.  So when you say it is your understanding --


MR. LONG:  I believe there was a directive from our shareholder to undertake that project.


MR. WARREN:  Now, when there was a directive from your shareholder, am I right that that is the -- on the hydroelectric side, that is the single biggest capital project, by a substantial margin, in all of the material you filed in this case?


MR. LONG:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  It's a billion dollar project, roughly; fair?


MR. LONG:  Roughly, yes.


MR. WARREN:  Now, when your shareholder said, Do this, did you then engage in the business case scenario -- sorry, business case planning process which is described here?


MR. LONG:  The business case process?  I mean, the -- that process would have been employed before that stage, but, in terms of moving ahead with the project, getting, you know, the contractors involved, RFPs sent out for involvement in the project, which then gets finally baked into the final business case -- so it is a bit of an evolution.

So the shareholder had some reasonable sense of what the -- what that project would look like, what its benefits would be, et cetera, before they provided that directive.


MR. WARREN:  When you say that they had a reasonable sense, were they given, for example, a cost-benefit analysis so that the shareholder could say, This thing is going to generate benefits that outweigh its costs?  Were they given that?


MR. LONG:  Yes, the business cases, the final one being the BCS, almost always include a cost-benefit analysis, except at the very, very early stages.

MR. WARREN:  I want to be quite precise so that you understand the question I am asking.


I am talking about the Niagara tunnel project.  Was the shareholder given a business case, whatever it is -- the BCS that included a cost-benefit analysis before it gave you the directive to build that project, or do you know?


MR. LONG:  I don't know specifically, but I do know that they were involved in looking at the financial analysis around that project.


MR. WARREN:  Again, from your high level in the corporate chain, can you tell me whether or not the cost-benefit analysis that went to the shareholder for the Niagara project showed that there were benefits that outweighed the costs?  Do you know that?


MR. LONG:  The benefits of the Niagara tunnel project, which I believe are in evidence in a business case, are -- you know, is increased production of electricity from the Beck complex, and so that is the benefit, and then there is a cost.

And the -- when you say a cost-benefit analysis, the way it was looked at, and the way we generally look at incremental generation projects, is that you then need to look at what the cost of that incremental output is and somebody needs to make a judgment as to whether that is appropriate.


In this case, that was the shareholder.


MR. WARREN:  Is it fair for me to conclude, panel, that from your perspective, that this one-billion-dollar project would have proceeded, based on the shareholder's directive, regardless of what the cost-benefit analysis was?  You were told what to do?


MR. LONG:  But in providing that directive to us, they were -- the shareholder was aware of what the parameters looked like.


MR. WARREN:  Now, as I read the evidence - again, panel, you will correct me if I am wrong - over the last two or three years, you have forecast expenditures for the Niagara tunnel project and you haven't spent as much as you forecast; is that correct?


MR. PENNY:  Mr. Chairman, may I interject at this stage?  I thought that Mr. Warren was getting into the Niagara tunnel as an example for the purposes of exploring how the business planning process worked, but that apparently is not the case.


The witnesses who are in a position to address the specifics of the Niagara tunnel are the core hydro panel, which is the next panel scheduled to testify.

I also wanted to point out, Mr. Chairman, that the Niagara tunnel costs do not land in the test period.  So I think we want to be somewhat cautious about the amount of time we spend on this, since we're not seeking to recover any costs associated with the Niagara tunnel in this application.


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chairman, with respect, my friend, Mr. Penny, is both premature and wrong.


These questions that I am asking are not about the details of the Niagara tunnel project, but how the highest level of the corporate business planning process reacts to the data they get, and I am using -- still using that as an example.  If I may be allowed to proceed?


MR. KAISER:  Yes.  Mr. Long, when was the first time you saw a BCS with respect to this project?


MR. LONG:  I don't recall the specific date, but it would have been in, I think, around 2005.


MR. KAISER:  So that would have been before the directive?


MR. LONG:  Yes.  I mean, we had been looking at this project for a number of years.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Warren, go  SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1ahead.


MR. WARREN:  So that Mr. Penny has some comfort about this, panel, I am not asking you about the detailed size of the drill bits on the Niagara tunnel project.


What I am interested in, though, is that there is data which is contained in the prefiled evidence indicating that for the Niagara tunnel project there were forecast capital expenditures and, for a variety of reasons, you spent less than the forecast over a period of two or three years.  Is that your understanding


MR. LONG:  That's my understanding.


MR. WARREN:  Now, from a business planning process, panel, what I want to know is what happens when you get data, in this case this data, that you forecast expenditures and they -- the money isn't spent?  Is there a re-approval process, a reconsideration process, which takes place as part of your business planning process?  If so, who is involved in that and what does it consist of?


MR. LONG:  The progress of the project in this case is managed separately from the business planning process.


So what happens from a business planning point of view is, you know, year 1 we may have a certain forecast of capital expenditures for the project.  The -- as part of the lead-in to the next business planning process, there will be a review undertaken of how the project is doing, what the expectations are, and, if necessary, there will be a revised program that will show up in the next business planning process.


MR. WARREN:  Who does that, Mr. Long?  Is that at your level that that revision to the business planning process takes place, or is it at the level of the particular unit, the hydroelectric unit in this case?


MR. LONG:  It is at the level of the particular unit.


MR. WARREN:  Now, turning to you, Ms. Sidford, as the treasurer, do you get information, for example, using the example of the hydro project, that the forecast capital expenditures haven't taken place?


MS. SIDFORD:  We do.


MR. WARREN:  What are the implications in terms of your actions, for example, going out and getting debt?


MS. SIDFORD:  We have arranged the financing through the OEFC for the Niagara tunnel -- is that the draws were scheduled according to the milestone payments in the project plan, the original project plan.


However, if the payments haven't been made in the project, then we don't draw the advance, because we don't need the money.  But the credit facility is a term facility that is open for the full length of time that it is needed.


MR. WARREN:  Now, you understand, panel -- and this question will sound patronizing and it is not intended to be.  You understand that what you are seeking -- or the new era you are embarking on is a forward test year planning process, where you forecast capital expenditures and the Board approves those or doesn't approve those, or approves them with modifications, and your rates are based on it.

And in that type of arrangement, precision in forecasting and controls on whether your forecasting actually meets -- whether your actuals meet your forecast is important.  Would you agree with those principles?


MR. LONG:  I would agree with those principles, yes.


MR. WARREN:  Now, in terms of looking at the forecast that we have here, we have the individual business units.  Again, using the example of the Niagara project, they're looking at the data, but in terms of the accuracy of the forecasting going forward, are they the ones who are going to be accountable for the accuracy of the forecasting, or is it corporate level that is going to be responsible for the...


MR. LONG:  The individual parts of the business are the ones that are accountable for the accuracy, if you will, of the forecast that they put together as part of the business planning process.


MR. WARREN:  What does corporate -- the corporate level, the folks that you represent, what do you do if the -- what do you propose to do if the actuals and forecast are significantly different?


MR. LONG:  Well, part of the planning process is addressing change that can give rise to variances.  So, I mean, the process accommodates the shifts that are necessary as, you know, projects -- how the program progress.


MR. WARREN:  To get to the nub of it, panel, and see if you can give me some comfort, as I read through your evidence on corporate planning, I don't see a rigorous process of accountability within this corporation when the budgets and the actuals differ significantly; that the buck stops on somebody's desk, that there is a re-approval process or a reconsideration process.

There is this organizational authority register, which is some ten pages long, but who is going to be responsible for these variances?  You agree with me the variances in the Niagara project, again, without dealing with the size of the drill bits, are significant?  In one year, they're in excess of $100 million; correct?


MR. LONG:  The variances associated with that project are significant, yes.


MR. WARREN:  When we get to the panel dealing with that, we will talk about what the reasons for it are.  But what I don't see in the material you filed, in respect of your testimony and the corporate level planning, is a system of accountability, that somebody upstairs at your level looks at this data and says, there is something wrong with the variance between the actuals and forecast, and what are we going to do about it?


Who does that, panel?  You folks don't appear to do it, based on the answers you have given to me.


MR. LONG:  The accountability for the variances will rest with the respective executive, in this case one associated with hydroelectric.


At the corporate level, at my level, in my job, that -- you know, if there are trends and if there are developments, then those things need to be reflected in adjustments to the plan in subsequent years, and that's the role that we play to making sure those things do in fact take place.


MR. WARREN:  If you could turn up an interrogatory response to a question filed by my friend, Mr. DeVellis's client, it is, for the record, Exhibit L-14-28.


MR. LONG:  L-14-28?


MR. WARREN:  Yes.


Do you have it, panel?


MR. LONG:  I have it.


MR. WARREN:  Now, if I look at your response at the bottom of the first page, dealing with the project which has a number -- and, again, there will be another panel presumably dealing with the details of this.  I am dealing only with the highest level corporate response to this.


There was a capital component to this project of 11.9 -- say, roughly, $12 million.


And if I go, then, to the top of the next page, I see in the third bullet item from the top that a decision was taken to pursue -- I am quoting here:

"...the more cost-effective option of equipment rental (i.e., OM&A funded) as opposed to purchase, i.e., capital."

So what had been forecast as a $12 million capital expenditure gets converted to OM&A.


Now, at your level, the corporate responsibility level, who reviews the decision to change that from OM&A -- from capital to OM&A and who deals with the implications of that?  Let me break down the question this way.


Would your level of corporate overview have to approve that change, and, if so, what is the mechanism?


MR. LONG:  The answer is "no".


MR. WARREN:  The answer is, No, you don't have to approve it?


MR. LONG:  No.  The appropriate -- you know, according to the authority register, the appropriate authority with respect to that particular project would be the one that would approve the change.


MR. WARREN:  And in terms of those kinds of changes, you will agree the new dispensation that we are here dealing with, will have implications for the rates that you charge for your services and what's charged to your customers; correct?  


You're nodding your head, Mr. Halperin.  Do I take that as a yes?


MR. LONG:  I think that is correct.  The difference between OM&A and capital can have an impact, yes.


MR. WARREN:  On rates, yes.  The accountability for that will be at the business unit level and not at your level; is that right?  Will it ever -- will you folks ever see that decision, or would you see it after it's made and somebody else is responsible for it?


MR. LONG:  We will certainly be made aware of those changes and, as indicated earlier, that would be taken into account in subsequent planning efforts.


MR. WARREN:  You would be made aware of them.  Do you have a veto power over them?


MR. LONG:  No.


MR. WARREN:  Let me take a look, then -- I apologize to Mr. DeVellis.  This is the last time I will track on his territory, but this is Exhibit L, tab 14, schedule 92.


This is -- the attachment to this is the organizational authority register.


MR. RUPERT:  Mr. Warren, can you repeat again the exhibit number?


MR. WARREN:  Sorry, it's Exhibit L, tab 14, schedule 94.


MR. RUPERT:  Ninety-four, thank you.


MR. WARREN:  It is the attachment that is attached to it.


MR. LONG:  Ninety-four?  I have that.


MR. WARREN:  If I could ask you to turn to page 10 of 13?  First of all, by way of overview, could I ask you a question about this organizational register?  Is this the document that sets out who must approve what level of expenditure and for what?


MR. LONG:  As I indicated earlier, that's one of its roles, yes.


MR. WARREN:  If I turn to page 10 of 13, and I am talking -- taking a look at the business case review, bottom of the page.  Do you have that?


MR. LONG:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  Now, it says in the first bullet item:

"All business cases for hydroelectric fossil corporate projects and related variance must be approved by the local business unit controller."


That's in -- as the words indicate, that is in the particular unit level; is that right?  Would that be hydroelectric generally or would it be, for example, hydroelectric -- Niagara as opposed to St. Lawrence?  Who is that person?


MR. LONG:  It would be generally -- hydroelectric generally.


MR. WARREN:  Let me take you down to the fourth bullet item:

"All nuclear business cases in excess of $15 million must be approved by the VP corporate investment planning."  


Is that you, Mr. Halperin?


MR. HALPERIN:  No.


MR. WARREN:  Who is that?


MR. LONG:  That's a colleague of ours in corporate finance.


MR. WARREN:  So do I take it that at a certain level of investment, it does go up to the corporate level?  It goes beyond the division level; is that right?


MR. LONG:  Oh, absolutely.  It goes all the way up to the board, according to the authority register.


MR. WARREN:  Now, if there are variations in that, let's say that they approve -- sticking with that bullet item, they approve a business case for a capital expenditure in excess of 15 million and it turns out they spent only 10 million.  Does it have to go back up to -- is there an accounting for that that goes back up to VP corporate investment planning?


MR. LONG:  The authority register also deals with that, but, generally speaking, if there are variances in a project that's been approved at a certain level in the organization, it has to go back to at least that level.  In some cases, the variance may take it to a level above.


MR. WARREN:  What's done with it at that point?  Is there a re-approval or a reconsideration process, for example, a new business case?


MR. LONG:  Both.


MR. WARREN:  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  Mr. Penny, would this be a convenient time to take the morning break?


MR. PENNY:  Yes, absolutely, Mr. Chairman.  If I may, just before the break, I meant to ask about this at the beginning and it slipped my mind.


The nature of these hearings is such, as you know, that requires me to be able to speak to the witnesses to get things done, and I wonder if I may ask for a dispensation from the Law Society rule that prevents me from speaking to the witnesses while they're being cross-examined.


MR. KAISER:  Any objection, Mr. Rodger?


MR. RODGER:  No objection.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Thompson?


MR. THOMPSON:  No.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Warren?


MR. WARREN:  No, sir.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.


MR. PENNY:  Thank you, sir.


--- Recess taken at 11:05 a.m.


--- Upon resuming at 11:31 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.   


Mr. Thompson.

Cross-examination by Mr. Thompson:


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


Panel, I represent the Canadian Manufacturers and Exporters.  My name is Peter Thompson.


I understand, from the witness panels and responsibilities exhibit, that you folks are responsible for rate base, cost of debt, summary of capitalization and cost of capital and business planning process; is that correct?


MR. LONG:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And do I understand correctly that your responsibilities are at the high level and that there will be further panels coming forward to deal with details on some of this stuff?


MR. LONG:  In the areas of rate base and the -- you know, the methodology used to allocate debt and the cost of debt, this panel is the only panel that will be speaking to that, and, similarly, at the high level business planning process at the overall level, rather than at the hydroelectric or nuclear level, this, again, will be the only panel speaking to that.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  Well, I would like to start, if I could, with rate base and the big picture with respect to rate base.


To do that, if you could turn up, please, Exhibit B1, tab 1, schedule 1.  Tables 1 and 2 are the two documents I wanted to look at first.


MR. LONG:  I have those.


MR. THOMPSON:  If you could just also have at your fingertips the flip side of this, being the capital structure side, I would ask you to turn up Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 1, and the three tables I want to refer to there are tables 2, 3 and 4.


MR. LONG:  C1, tab 2, schedule 1, tables 2, 3 and 4?


MR. THOMPSON:  Two, 3 and 4, right.  C1, tab 2, schedule 1, tables 2, 3 and 4.


MR. LONG:  I have those.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So starting with the rate base, Exhibit B1, tab 1, schedule 1, table 1.  There we see, as I understand it, prescribed facility rate base for the years 2005 and 2006 on an actual basis and 2007 on an actual basis, and then the proposals for 2008 and 2009 for hydroelectric.  Am I correct?


MR. LONG:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  On table 1.  Then if we flip over the page, we see the same thing for nuclear; correct?


MR. LONG:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  If you would take, subject to check, that the sum of the rate base for hydroelectric and the sum of the rate base for nuclear for 2007, 2008 and 2009 is 7.411 billion, approximately 7.401 billion, and 7.354 billion; would you be prepared to accept those numbers, subject to check?


MR. LONG:  Yes.  They sound about right.


MR. THOMPSON:  Then if you just quickly look back to the capitalization exhibits that I mentioned and you start at table 4 of C1, tab 2, schedule 1, you will see the rate base for 2007, to which the exhibit refers, is about 7.411 billion at line 6 on table 4, in the first column.  Do you see that?


MR. LONG:  Yes, I see that.


MR. THOMPSON:  Then if you come forward to table 3, for 2008 it is about 7.4 billion, and then for 2009 about 7.354 billion, as I mentioned.


So the big picture is you have a rate base number and you have a capital structure that matches rate base; is that fair?


MR. LONG:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, it is clear from the questioning of others that the regulated operations are only a portion of the totality of OPG's business.  Do I understand that correctly?


MR. LONG:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  We see that, in part, in Exhibit B1, tab 1, schedule 1, page 8, just a page before the exhibit we were discussing a moment ago, where the nuclear and hydroelectric assets, net plant in service, has been reconciled to the financial statements.  Do you see that in line 1 of that chart 1 --


MR. LONG:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  -- referenced back to the financial statements?


MR. LONG:  I see that, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  So I would like to just take you to those financial statements so we can, again, get the bigger picture.


Those are in the "A" exhibit, I believe, A2, tab 1, schedule 1, appendix A.  Do you have that?


MR. LONG:  I have that.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  If you look at the assets, the corporation as a whole, consolidated balance sheets at page six of this document, you will see the fixed assets, less accumulated depreciation, about 12.777 billion?


MR. LONG:  Sorry, I am having trouble finding the...


MR. PENNY:  Can we clarify which -- you're talking about which year, Mr. Thompson?  2007?


MR. THOMPSON:  2007 financials, which I have at Exhibit A2-1-1, appendix A, December 31, 2007 financials.  Does the panel have that -- the witness panel have that?


MR. LONG:  I have our final annual report.  I think it was the preliminary MD&A.  Sorry, I have the consolidated balance sheet.


MR. THOMPSON:  I think it is page six of the piece of paper I have.


MR. LONG:  Okay.


MR. THOMPSON:  The fixed assets less accumulated depreciation are 12.777 billion; correct?


MR. LONG:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Total assets excluding -- including current assets, about 24.8 billion?  The total assets for 2007, $24.839 billion?


MR. LONG:  Yes, I see that.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Then if you go to the note 18 that is referenced in the chart 1 that I mentioned earlier, you will find that in this stuff at --


MR. LONG:  Yes, I have that.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, I am just catching up to you.  What we see there at page 51 of the financials is the fixed assets of 12.777 billion allocated between regulated and unregulated, and then within each of those -- sorry, regulated, unregulated and other, and within each of those, of the regulated and unregulated segregations, we have nuclear and hydroelectric in regulated and hydroelectric and fossil fuelled in unregulated.  Have I described that fairly?


MR. LONG:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So it is from that segregation that the rate base numbers that I mentioned a moment ago on this chart are derived.  Is that fair?

MR. LONG:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Chart 1.  Okay.

Now, I will come back to the financials in a moment.  But the capital structure that's being proposed to support the rate base you are seeking is a hypothetical capital structure.  Is that the way you would describe it?

MR. LONG:  It's a deemed capital structure.  The 57.5 and 42.5 percent debt is the proposed deemed capital structure.

MR. THOMPSON:  And just so that I can make sure we understand it, and let's take, for example, C1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 3, where we have the total rate base of $7.4 million, you are proposing to deem 57.5 percent of that as equity, and 42.5 percent of that amount as debt.

MR. LONG:  Can I have that reference again?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  C1, tab 2, schedule 1, table 3.

MR. LONG:  Table 3.  Yes.  For 2008, the proposed capital structure is 57.5 equity, 42.5 percent debt.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then that's step one of the process, what are the ratios going to be between equity and debt. Your proposal is 57.5 and 42.5.  Correct?

MR. LONG:  That's correct, according to the evidence of Ms. McShane.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then you multiply those amounts, those percentages by the rate base and that gives you the numbers at lines 5 and lines 4 of this schedule, this table.  Is that right?

MR. LONG:  Certainly under the principle.  The principle amounts are derived that way, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then within the debt, within the debt piece of the structure, there are three subsets.  One is existing/planned long-term debt.  And that, I understand, is real world stuff.  It's the existing debt that the OPG has, with an allocation of it to these regulated business lines, an allocation of a portion of it.  And then it is taking planned debt and also including it in that number at line 2.  Is that fair?

MR. LONG:  That's fair.  That's as described in the Exhibit C-1, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  But that doesn't give you enough.  And so at line 3 we have "other long-term debt provision", and that's just a plug.

MR. LONG:  That's the amount of debt that is required to bring us up to the proposed capital structure, 42.5 percent.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the short-term debt amount, could you just in 25 words, does that involve an allocation, like long-term?  Or is it something other than an allocation?

MR. LONG:  No.  It is an allocation.  Again, that's described in the evidence.  It is allocated between the regulated and unregulated parts of the business, based on non-cash working capital, plus construction work-in-progress as the allocator.

MR. THOMPSON:  So that is a real world amount that is allocated, the 189.3 --

MR. LONG:  Well, in the case of 2008, it also involves a forecast.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Because in -- all right.  So it is not short-term debt borrowings; it is other type of paper?

MR. LONG:  Well, the content of the short-term debt, again, is described in the Exhibit C.  Maybe Ms. Sidford could tell you what's there for 2008.

MS. SIDFORD:  That is real debt.  That's not made up as a provision.

MR. THOMPSON:  It's not like line 3?

MS. SIDFORD:  No.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  It has a footing in reality?

MS. SIDFORD:  It does.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  If we went back to 2007, does the same hold true?  This is the presentation now.  The ratios are different for equity and debt, because you are operating under the auspices of 45 percent equity and 55 percent debt.  Right?

MR. LONG:  Yes.  We used the same capital structure for 2005, 2006 and 2007, that form the basis for the interim rates.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But in terms of the amounts that appear at line 1, is that a real amount?  In other words, can I cross-reference that to the financials and find that amount?

MS. SIDFORD:  Yes, you can.  But it is for the regulated.  It's the portion that is calculated or allocated at the regulated.

MR. THOMPSON:  It is an allocated portion of the actual short-term stuff in the financials?

MS. SIDFORD:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Similarly, line 2 is an allocation of the actual long-term stuff that I will find in the financials, and then line 3 is a plug?

MS. SIDFORD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, when we test the reasonableness of this structure, one comparator that has been looked at in prior cases in which I have been involved, is the actual capital structure of the consolidated corporation.

So I want to go back to the financials and just take a look at them.

Did anybody within OPG do that comparison, by any chance?

MR. LONG:  We are aware of what that comparison looks like, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So in the financials we have assets -- this is at page six of Exhibit A-2, tab 1, schedule 1 -- we have total assets at December 31, 2007 of $24.839 billion.  Fair?

MR. LONG:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And if you deducted the current asset portion of that, you would have something in the order of 23.301 billion.  Would you take that subject to check?

MR. LONG:  Sounds about right.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Then if we flip over and look at the liability side of this sheet, which is the, in quotes, "capital" that is supporting these assets, and we back out current liabilities -- well, sorry, if we just back out the same amount.

We express the liability components of long-term debt, other long-term liabilities and shareholders' equity as proportions of the $23.301 billion, would you take -- subject to check -- that the long-term debt expressed, long-term debt liability of 3.446 billion, expressed as a proportion of 23.301 billion, is about 15 percent?

MR. LONG:  Subject to check.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then in this category of "other long-term liabilities", they total $13.048 million.  Correct?  As of December 31, 2007.

MR. LONG:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  And that, expressed as a proportion of $23.301 billion is -- would you take subject to check -- about 56 percent?

MR. LONG:  Again, subject to check.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the equity component of 6.807 billion is about 29 percent of 23.301 billion?


MR. LONG:  Yes, subject to check.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, it would appear that on an actual basis it is not debt and equity that's supporting rate base in whole, but it's debt, equity and "other"?


MR. LONG:  Yes.  The liabilities side of our balance sheet includes those three components.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the "other" includes, for example, future income taxes.  Do you see that on page 7, 217 million?


MR. LONG:  I do.


MR. THOMPSON:  Is that what used to be called deferred income taxes?


MR. LONG:  I am not an expert in income tax, so I can't say whether that was its previous title or not.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  On that other long-term liabilities side of the ledger, we have this liability for fixed asset removal and nuclear waste; correct?


MR. LONG:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And that amount is not any money that OPG collected or attracted from the capital markets; correct?


MR. LONG:  Yes.  That's a liability.  That's an estimate of the cost of -- present value cost of satisfying that liability.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the accounting for that is -- where the numbers come from is through the income statement.  There is an expense that flows through the income statement and that gets accumulated in this liability; fair?


MR. LONG:  That's not my -- that's -- part of it comes through the income statement.  The lion's share does not.


MR. THOMPSON:  Where do you say the lion's share comes from?


MR. LONG:  Well, I am not really the best person to speak to this.  The nuclear liability panel has an accounting expert on this, but I guess, at a high level, the accounting required putting this liability on the balance sheet.  So when we were created back in 1999, the liability existing at that time was placed on the balance sheet.


Subsequent to that, other items have flown through the income statement, including things such as accretion.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Does anyone on the panel know how this Board has treated liabilities of this nature for cost of capital purposes, taking, for example, the deferred taxes element?  Was that studied by OPG?


MR. LONG:  In coming up with what would and would not be included in rate base, I think the simple answer to that is "yes".  It was excluded from rate base.


MR. THOMPSON:  Deferred taxes were?


MR. LONG:  I believe so.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Is the panel aware of the rationale for deferred tax -- the liability being excluded from rate base?


MR. LONG:  Maybe I misstated that.  I mean it wasn't taken into consideration, because the capitalization of the rate base was done on the deemed capital structure basis.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.


MR. LONG:  It wasn't a specific factor.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, let me ask you it this way.  Is the panel aware of the precedent decisions of this Board where liabilities that had -- such as deferred taxes that aren't attributable to attracting capital in the marketplace, but attributable to an expense item in the income and expense statement being treated as zero cost of capital?


MR. LONG:  I am somewhat aware of that, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, then in trying to ascertain the amount in the rate base number that is attributable to this nuclear liability calculation, there is an exhibit which I would ask you to turn up.  It is Exhibit L, tab 2, schedule 55.


MR. LONG:  I am still looking for that.


MR. THOMPSON:  And this exhibit asked that the portion of the fixed assets were attributable to this decommissioning amount, be it specifically identified.


MR. PENNY:  Sorry, Mr. Thompson.  Just wait while Mr. Long turns that up.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.


MR. LONG:  I have it now.


MR. THOMPSON:  So that's a revision to the table that I directed your attention to earlier, in that it has the nuclear decommissioning waste disposal amount that is appearing in fixed assets shown in the last line of the table?


MR. LONG:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And this is just on the nuclear side.


That amount in 2007 is about -- well, it is 1.36 -- let's call it $1.369 billion; correct?


MR. LONG:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  If you just then flip back to the table dealing with 2007 capital structure, Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 1, table 4, the equity there is shown at about -- well, it is shown as $3.335 billion; correct?


MR. LONG:  $3.335 billion, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And would you take, subject to check, that the nuclear decommissioning and waste disposal segment of rate base of $1.369 million is about 41 percent of that total?


MR. LONG:  Forty-one percent of the common equity?


MR. THOMPSON:  Common equity component of the capital structure.


MR. LONG:  Yes.  


MR. THOMPSON:  Is that about right?  Okay.  So I would like to put this -- well, let me ask you one more question.  Do you know what the prevailing return on equity for the large utilities regulated by this Board was in 2006 and 2007?  I think it is around 8.3, 8.4 percent, but are you aware of that?


MR. LONG:  I am not aware of the specific number, but...


MR. THOMPSON:  Sound like it is in the ballpark?


MR. LONG:  In the ballpark, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  What I would like to put to you is this:  If what the government did was ascribe a zero cost to this component of the rate base so you would have essentially -- of the equity, you would have 1.369 billion at zero -- roughly 40 percent at zero, 60 percent at the prevailing equity rate, 8.3 to 8.4 percent, the equity return on the total would come out to about 5 percent; would you agree?


MR. LONG:  I got a little confused there with -- if you could go through that again?


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Sixty percent of the 335.0 attracts an ROE of about 8.3 percent -- let's do it at 8.3 -- 40 percent attracts a cost of zero. because it's zero-cost capital, for -- the return on 100 percent of that number is six times 8.3 percent, it is about 5 percent.  60 percent of 8.3.

MR. LONG:  I am not sure what that number actually means, but the math seems to indicate 5 percent.

MR. THOMPSON:  It's the overall equity return that results from ascribing zero cost to the -- zero cost of capital to the nuclear decommissioning component of rate base.  That is what it is.

MR. LONG:  Okay.

MR. THOMPSON:  So my question is -- and we asked you in our interrogatory -- where did the government get the 5 percent.  And I don't know if you need that reference, but it is the CME interrogatory.

MR. PENNY:  I was hoping Mr. Thompson was going to say they got it from him.

MR. THOMPSON:  Exhibit L, tab 4, schedule 3.

MR. LONG:  I have that.

MR. THOMPSON:  The reference was to the only information OPG had was a government announcement of some sort, which I think you -- It may be referenced on this website.  I wasn't able to find it.  Is that in the record somewhere?

MR. LONG:  I don't believe it is an exhibit at this hearing, no.  But it is on the Ministry of -- I believe the Ministry of Energy's website.

MR. THOMPSON:  Could I have an undertaking to have OPG file it?  Could that be done?

MR. PENNY:  We actually have a copy, so, yes, we can undertake to file that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.

MS. CAMPBELL:  It needs an undertaking number, which would be J1.1.

MR. BATTISTA:  The undertaking is described as?  

MR. PENNY:  As I understand it, it is to file the Backgrounder from the Ontario Government announcing prices on electricity from Ontario Power Generation.
UNDERTAKING J1.1:  To file the Ontario Government Backgrounder announcing prices on electricity from Ontario Power Generation

Mr. Battista:  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  I would just like to go back to the financial statements for a moment in the context of this response you provided to CME number 3, Exhibit L, tab 4, schedule 3, and in particular, to the discussion and analysis of management, which starts in the document somewhere.  It follows page 54.  We then get management discussion and analysis in the 2007 Annual Report.

MR. LONG:  Yes.  I think I have a different version than you, so that the page numbers may be slightly off.  It is in the MD&A?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, and the pagination starts afresh in that section of the report, so I wanted to take you to page three of this part of the Annual Report.  Do you have that?  It's under a topic heading "rate regulation".

MR. LONG:  Yes, I have that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then the second paragraph, it is talking about the Board's -- sorry, talking about the prescription of these prices, these regulated prices.

It says as follows:
"These regulated prices were established by the province based on a revenue requirement, taking into account a forecast of production volumes and total operating costs and a return on rate base, which assumed an average 5 percent return on equity."

Now, what is the source for that information?

MR. LONG:  In the announcement that you have requested be filed, the province makes it clear that the interim rates that they established were based on a nominal 5 percent return on equity.

MR. THOMPSON:  I mentioned the word "average".  What does that mean?  Because that seems to reinforce the analysis of the type that I've described to you.


MR. LONG:  In this context it means the average over the period for which interim rates applied, i.e. from April 1st, 2005 through March 31, 2008.


MR. THOMPSON:  Did OPG in this case consider ascribing a zero cost of capital to this nuclear decommissioning component of rate base?


MR. LONG:  No.  We think that would be entirely inappropriate.


MR. THOMPSON:  So it wasn't even considered?


MR. LONG:  No.  You know, the decisions on interim rates, you have to remember, were actually made by the province based on advice from their advisor.  And it wasn't considered either by us or by them.

MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry.  It wasn't considered by the province?  How do you know it wasn't considered by the province?

MR. LONG:  The –-


MR. THOMPSON:  He also talks about another option.


MR. LONG:  That's correct, but if –-


MR. THOMPSON:  Whether the government accepted either one of those recommendations or ascribed zero cost to this capital component, do you know what they did and why they did it?


MR. LONG:  We are only guided by the consistency of the result, the established interim rates with their announced 5 percent return on equity, with all of the numbers that are in their advisor's report.  So it seems entirely consistent in every regard, except for their recommendation on return on equity.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, just before we leave it, the advisor's report you're referring to, I believe is attached to --

MS. CAMPBELL:  It is L2, 10.  

MR. THOMPSON:  That's correct.  

MS. CAMPBELL:  Attachment 1.  

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  If we just turn that up, Mr. Halperin, to make sure that we're talking about the same section of the report, is what you are describing contained in the report at page 19?

MR. LONG:  You are asking the question of whether we knew whether the province ascribed a zero cost of capital to the nuclear liability component of rate base, and my answer was that you would have to look at the final result and compare that, which is the $33 a megawatt-hour and the $49.5 a megawatt-hour, together with the 5 percent ROE assumption, and compare that to the numbers that are in this report, and they tie in very well, if you were to do the math.


So it is not specifically what's on page 19, although that represents the advisor's recommendation for the treatment of this particular item.


MR. THOMPSON:  Let's just back up.  You can deduct the amount from rate base or you can ascribe it a zero cost of capital.


If you do the latter, you treat this piece as an equity piece, then you end up with an equity return that is in the 5 percent order of magnitude.


If you deducted it from rate base and had 8.4 percent in the capital structure, you would end up with the same result.  Do you follow me?


MR. LONG:  No.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I will pick it up with the cost of capital witnesses.  Ms. McShane and I have been through this many years ago.


In any event, in terms of the impact of not deducting it from rate base or ascribing this feature of the rate base as attributable to zero cost of capital, would you agree with me that the impact of all of this is as set out in another AMPCO exhibit, which is Exhibit L, tab 2, schedule 58?

What your proposed treatment does is increase the deficiency by the 21-month deficiency of $147.6 million?


MR. LONG:  Just hold on a minute.


I have that now.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  What I am suggesting to you is that if the million -- sorry, the 1.3-something-billion of these amounts in rate base are attributed -- or, rather, deducted from rate base or treated as having been funded by zero cost capital, the impact is to reduce the deficiency by $147.6 million; is that fair?


MR. LONG:  That is not what this interrogatory shows.  What we're showing here, you know, the question asks what the impact would be if the nuclear liabilities were treated as a flow-through.


We weren't overly sure exactly what "flow-through" meant there, but we interpreted it as using the income statement impact of the nuclear liability.


So what we're doing here is we are taking away the rate base treatment and substituting the income statement treatment, including accretion and the segregated earnings on the fund.  That is not the same as ascribing a zero cost of capital to this component.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I take your point.  We will have to go through it and do the calculation.  I think it's going to end up in the same ballpark, but we will do that.


Just before I leave this interrogatory, what -- am I correct that what this is saying is, if you adhered to the methods you use in your financial statements for the purposes of the regulatory treatment for this item, the revenue deficiency would be $147.6 million less?


MR. LONG:  That's what this says.  And, as I said before, I think that is not an appropriate basis for determining the revenue requirement.


MR. THOMPSON:  But the directive tells us, in some respects, to treat your audited 2007 financial statements as sacrosanct.  So why do we depart from it when it comes to this item?


MR. LONG:  My understanding is - and I would have to look at all of the words in the regulation 53/05 - that it particularly says that we should use the assets and liabilities from the financial statements, and we have used the fixed asset values, which include this so-called asset retirement cost component in establishing the rate base upon which to apply the deemed capital structure.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Let's move on to one other point that others have touched on.  Mr. Rodger dealt with this pretty much this morning, and there is just one perhaps follow-up that I wanted to deal with.


He made it pretty clear that the fact that you have a 5 percent return on equity, coupled with government ownership of OPG, hasn't affected adversely your credit ratings.  They're pretty good compared to others?


MS. SIDFORD:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Do you agree?


MS. SIDFORD:  They benefit from the government ownership.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  On that point, when we talk about this stand-alone concept, I have understood it to mean we look at the regulated components of a business that has unregulated components as if they were standing alone from the unregulated.


Is that a feature of the concept?


MR. LONG:  That's correct.  And I think that is fully explained in Ms. McShane's evidence.


MR. THOMPSON:  But I have never understood the stand-alone concept to look at the business as though it was owned by somebody other than its owner.  Is that what you're suggesting here as part of the stand-alone concept?  We're to pretend the government doesn't own OPG?


MR. LONG:  I don't think -- I will let Ms. McShane deal with that in detail, but I don't think it is saying that.  In fact, our credit rating, as you have indicated, is dependent on that ownership.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, then you would agree that taking the hypothetical, to the extent we forget about the real owner, would be going too far?


MR. LONG:  In determining the appropriate cost of equity, which is where that concept is used, and the appropriate capital structure, I will let Ms. McShane speak to her views on that, but we fully agree with her recommendations.


MR. THOMPSON:  Just with respect to rate base, there are just a couple of other items I want to touch on.  


So it is back to our rate base schedules there, Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, tables 1 and 2.  Apart from this component of gross plant that we have been discussing, the other drivers of that feature of the proposals here, as I understand it, are your capital expenditure programs, some of which Mr. Warren has talked about.


Then we have the other items of rate base, cash working capital, fuel inventory, materials and supplies.  And on that -- with respect to those topics -- and I am interested in the nuclear side of the equation.  First of all, just dealing with cash working capital, do I understand you did an updated lead lag study for both business segments and the results are showing here?


MR. LONG:  We did a lead lag study to determine the cash working capital requirements of both the regulated hydroelectric and the nuclear business.

MR. THOMPSON:  And in terms of the fuel inventory component for nuclear, we see significant increases.  This is B1, tab 1, schedule 1, table 2, from 2005 to 2008 and 2009.  On average, a doubling.  What's driving that?

MR. LONG:  Well, that's best spoken to by one of the upcoming nuclear panels.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And materials and supplies, the same thing?  Somebody else will deal with that later?

MR. LONG:  I think the nuclear-based panel is probably the best one to deal with that.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Let's, then, move to the debt amounts and costs in the capital structure you are proposing.

So this takes us to the C exhibit.  For purposes of these questions I think we can look at Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 1, table 3, which is the 2008 capital structure, where the cost of existing/planned long-term debt, cost rate there is 5.79 percent for 2008, and 5.79 percent for 2009.

Do I understand those numbers --

MR. LONG:  Sorry, you said 5.79 for 2008?

MR. THOMPSON:  That's what I have for 2008.  In C1, tab 2, schedule 1, table 3, line 2.  Third column.

MS. SIDFORD:  Yes.  Those are the correct --

MR. THOMPSON:  And the same number for that segment for 2009.

MS. SIDFORD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And derivation of this involves taking embedded costs of -– sorry, costs of embedded debt and then adding to them some forecast costs for planned issues.

MS. SIDFORD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Is that right?

MS. SIDFORD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the forecast costs for planned issues, as I understand them, you have based on -– well, you tell me what you have based them on.

MS. SIDFORD:  It's the actual debt outstanding.  So if you turn to -- if we use 2008, if you turn to table 4b.  Sorry, 4 and 4b, table 4 and 4b.  You'll see --

MR. THOMPSON:  What?  Am I in the right --

MS. SIDFORD:  C1, tab 2, schedule 2.

MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, schedule 2, sorry.  Okay, I'm with you.

MS. SIDFORD:  Table 4.

MR. THOMPSON:  Table 4, yes.

MS. SIDFORD:  So that cost is based on the actual outstanding for that year, 2008, and the actual rate of interest for the corporate portion of the debt, and then allocate it according to the allocation that has been established of 58.1 percent.

Then the project-related debt, which in this case is the bottom half of that table 4, and you will see the 5.79.

MR. THOMPSON:  Correct.

MS. SIDFORD:  -- at the bottom column.  And that's where that --

MR. THOMPSON:  So is that a weighted average cost --

MS. SIDFORD:  That is.

MR. THOMPSON:  -- of existing and issued?

MS. SIDFORD:  That is.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, thanks.  But the number in the C exhibit includes not only existing, but some future issues, as I understand it.  Am I right?

MS. SIDFORD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Where do I find these future issues?  Are they in this schedule?

MS. SIDFORD:  If you turn to the next page, 4b.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  That's telling me that it is producing an average rate of 5.65 percent?

MS. SIDFORD:  That's to forecast the provision, or the deemed portion of the debt.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, but --

MS. SIDFORD:  So the existing and planned long-term debt is on schedule 4 -– or table 4, sorry.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Oh, I see.  The plan's down here in lines 17 -- sorry, lines 19, 20 -- I'm sorry, lines 20 and 21; is that right?

MS. SIDFORD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Where is the forecast part of this?  Just those two lines?  And then there is some project financing below it.

MS. SIDFORD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  The forecast, all right.

In terms of the forecast portion of this, tell me, you have taken a long-term debt rate as of a point in time and you added a spread as of a point in time.

MS. SIDFORD:  Yes.  The way -- these future issues have been hedged, so we know a part of that cost already.  We fixed that cost.  And the cost is a Government of Canada ten-year bond as the base, and then there is a credit spread or margin attributed to OPG's cost.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then the spread, if I read the evidence correctly, is 130 basis points, which was up considerably from the spreads you enjoyed prior to December of 2007.  Did I understand that correctly?

MS. SIDFORD:  That's not OPG-specific.  That is everybody in this current credit market.  Since August of 2007 through to present time, the credit spreads have been widening.

MR. THOMPSON:  What is OPG-specific, because you get your deals with your affiliate?

MS. SIDFORD:  It is based on a market survey of rates, of independent parties' rate, OPG's credit spread.  A total of six banks regularly assessed OPG's credit and that -- every rate, every time we borrow, whether it is from the OEFC, it is still based on that credit spread.

MR. THOMPSON:  Am I correct, the last time you borrowed, you paid, it was December of 2007 and the spread, the OPG-specific spread was 130?

MS. SIDFORD:  Yes, it was.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  My question is:  Looking out, I read yesterday that a lot of long-term stuff is now being accommodated in the market.  But looking out over two years, why have you stuck with 130 basis points?  Why isn't there some assumption that will get back to normal?

MS. SIDFORD:  I can't make that assumption.  I have no crystal ball.  So the answer right now is the credit spreads are built into the market.

There's a forward or future view, spreads in terms of its transactions and that is the price at the moment.  We have no better knowledge than that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, is there anywhere in the record I could find what the deficiency impact of a spread for these projected issuances, the deficiency impact on the total costs of debt of a spread that is 50 basis points less than 130?

MS. SIDFORD:  I am not sure I understand what you are asking.  You want --

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, you have projected that these issues that will take place in the future will be at a spread over the long Canada of 130 basis points.  Just stopping there, have I got that straight?

MS. SIDFORD:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  What I am asking is, if they were projected at a spread of 80 basis points, what would be the revenue deficiency impact?

MS. SIDFORD:  Well, if you turn to table 4b, you will see that we do do that.  We have actually combined swap rate plus 75 basis points as a combination.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Where do I find that?

MS. SIDFORD:  Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 2, table 4b.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And it is telling me that the deficiency would be how much less if the spread was 75 basis points?


MS. SIDFORD:  No, it doesn't say it is how much less.  It is saying that we have combined what we know, the 130 basis points, plus the market swap rate, and we have implied with the 75 basis points, which is the...


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Can I get an answer to my question?


MS. SIDFORD:  I can't answer that.


MR. THOMPSON:  Could you undertake to answer it?


MR. LONG:  I think that we can undertake to do that calculation.


MR. PENNY:  Let's just get clear what it is.  Which crystal ball do you want us to gaze into it, Mr. Thompson?  Is it 50 basis points, 80 basis points?


MR. THOMPSON:  Eighty basis points.


MR. PENNY:  Eighty basis points, all right.  We can do a calculation that shows the deficiency provision that relates to the forecast portion of the long-term debt on the assumption that it is 80 basis points, not 130 basis points.


MR. LONG:  That was for 2008; is that right?


MR. PENNY:  For 2008, yes.


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J 1.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  TO PROVIDE CALCULATION SHOWING DEFICIENCY PROVISION RELATING TO THE FORECAST PORTION OF THE LONG-TERM DEBT ON THE ASSUMPTION OF 80 BASIS POINTS FOR 2008 AND 2009.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, for all of the projected issuances in this --


MR. PENNY:  Sorry, 2008 and 2009?


MR. THOMPSON:  Correct.


MR. PENNY:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  All right, let's just move quickly then to the short-term debt rate in the presentations, back to C1, tab 2, schedule 1, 5.83 percent in 2008 and 5.98 percent in 2009.


What is the basis for those forecasts for short-term debt?


MS. SIDFORD:  That is a forecast for a short-term debt.


MR. THOMPSON:  It is or is not?


MS. SIDFORD:  No.  It is.


MR. THOMPSON:  I am asking what's -- it strikes me as high, but tell me where you got it.


MS. SIDFORD:  If you turn to Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 3, table 1.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.


MS. SIDFORD:  Take your attention back to the calculations for the cost of commercial paper, the asset securitization.  You will see on the bottom, on line 12, after that short-term debt is allocated to a regulated business, you will see the 5.83 percent.


MR. THOMPSON:  I don't, but am I in the wrong table?


MS. SIDFORD:  C1, tab 2, schedule 3 --


MR. THOMPSON:  Schedule 3 or schedule 2?


MS. SIDFORD:  Schedule 3.


MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, I'm sorry.  I'm on the wrong page.


Okay.  Well, I think I will...


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Thompson, would this be a convenient time to take the lunch break?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, it would.  I'm just about done, but this would be fine.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Come back in one hour.


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:36 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 1:37 p.m.

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.

Mr. Thompson.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Panel, I am going to move away from the cost of short-term debt.  It's clear it is not a big-ticket item, and I will deal with the rates with the cost of capital people.  

I would like to turn to -- just one matter before I turn to business planning, which is my last topic.

If I could just take you back to the annual report for December 31, 2007, at page 7.  This is the liabilities side of the consolidated balance sheet.

MR. LONG:  I have that.

MR. THOMPSON:  There's a reference -- and I mentioned this before -- there is a reference to the future income taxes, and it takes us to note 11.  I don't think we need to turn that up.

Am I correct that these -– sorry, that OPG is not taxable, and that these amounts represent future payments in lieu of taxes, to one of the -- maybe it's the financial corporation?

MR. LONG:  I think I would defer that question to the corporate panel, where Mr. Robin Heard will be able to speak about our tax position.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you very much.

Let's go to the last topic, then, which is the business planning topic.  Perhaps the best way to start this is to have you turn up two documents.

The first is L14-45, with attachment 2, which is 2007 to 2011 business planning information and instructions.  I would ask you to go to page five of that document.

MR. HALPERIN:  We have it.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then the other document I would ask you to just to have at hand, it's L, tab 4, schedule 2, the attachment, which is the business plan that was presented to the OPG board of directors in December of 2007.

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.  Yes.  We have it.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, in the annual report at page 51 -- I don't think you need to turn this up, we discussed this earlier -- the business segments are divided into regulated and unregulated and "other".  And within the regulated we have nuclear and hydroelectric, and unregulated, hydroelectric and fossil fuel, and then there is the "other" category.

Now, in terms of planning and running OPG's business, is it done on a consolidated basis at the board of director level?

MR. LONG:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And so, taking nuclear, which has -– it's entirely regulated; am I correct?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. LONG:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  So is that, the planning for nuclear, done on a business unit basis?

MR. LONG:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then hydroelectric, which is regulated and unregulated, is the planning for hydroelectric done on a hydroelectric basis rather than a subdivided basis?

MR. HALPERIN:  I think that is a question best answered by the hydroelectric panel.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  At a high level, can you folks not --

MR. HALPERIN:  At a high level, it is our understanding that it is planned and managed as a business as a whole.

MR. THOMPSON:  Where does fossil fuel, that line of business, is that planned separately?  Or is it a subset of one of the other two?

MR. HALPERIN:  No.  Fossil is essentially a stand-alone business unit, similar to hydroelectric or nuclear.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then the "other "category, is that, again, a stand-alone subset for planning purposes?

MR. HALPERIN:  From a business planning point of view, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, I just want to get a feel for regulatory planning and business planning, and that takes us to the Exhibit L-14, 45, page 5.

Here, what this tells us is that OPG plans to use the 2007-2011 business plan as the basis for the first application to the OEB.

Then under that paragraph, we will see a schedule that is established for development of the OEB application.  Do you see that?

MR. LONG:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Do I take it from that that the business planning and OEB application planning run in parallel?  Or are they two stand-alone exercises?

MR. HALPERIN:  Well, they run in parallel, and we do integrate where we can, in terms of information gathering and information preparation.

MR. LONG:  Just to make it clear, Mr. Thompson, the basis for this application was the corporation's business plan for nuclear and regulated hydro.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  It was the corporation's 2007 to 2011 plan; is that right?

MR. HALPERIN:  That was the basis for filing the November 30th filing, and the updates on March 30th were the result of the business plan that was approved by the Board in December of 2007, which would have been the one after the ones referred to in these instructions.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thanks.

So the update, then, that you have mentioned, the driver for that was -- was the driver for that the document that appears at Exhibit L-4-2, which I understand to be the plans that were presented to OPG's board of directors?

MR. HALPERIN:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, the sort of high-level question I have here about this is the question of the compatibility of what was placed before the board of directors with what's in the application.  That's why we asked for these business plans, and you produced them, but with redactions.  

If for example you would just turn to page six of the hydro business plan, which was in L-4-2, you will see what it is I am concerned about.

There, in page 6, in line 1, there is some numbers for OM&A for hydro, which is a big issue in this case, for last year's plan, which I would assume would be the 2007 to 2011 plan.  Is that what that line is referring to?

MR. HALPERIN:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then we have some numbers, with some blacked out.  I understand some of these lines of business are unregulated.

Then at the bottom we have "hydro OM&A submission" and numbers change in OM&A from previous plan, and they have been redacted.  And then on the capital side we run into the same problem.

My question is:  How can intervenors test the compatibility of this plan with what's before the Board, if those numbers are redacted?


MR. PENNY:  Well, Mr. Chairman, I am happy to have the witnesses respond to that at some level, but let's remember that this is not the basis of the filing.  This is the basis of the November filing, which has been updated.


So the 2007 -- am I right?  Oh, I'm sorry.  I apologize, Mr. Chairman, I had that starting date wrong.


Let me say this by way of background.  The issue here, of course, as Mr. Thompson has already pointed out, is the portions of the submission to the Board that are blacked out relate to either the combined or the unregulated part of the business, and a perfect example of that is on page 6, when you look down, the capital plan -- or the plan, the parts that are taken out, of course, as you can readily see, are portions that relate entirely to the -- to unregulated assets.


And they're redacted because they're unregulated and because they participate in a competitive market.


MR. KAISER:  Why do you care about the unregulated assets, or does Mr. Penny have it right?


MR. THOMPSON:  I don't, really, but I am trying to ask, without asking for production of the information in confidence, if there is some way the panel can help us and reassure us, by cost comparison or something, that the numbers here are compatible with what is in the application.


MR. PENNY:  I think we might be able to do that, Mr. Chairman, but, again, I say the only things that are redacted are either the unregulated, which I hear Mr. Thompson saying he doesn't care about, or the combined.  And the combined isn't going to help him either, because the combined of course is combined.  So you aren't going to be able to relate combined numbers to what's in our filing, because our filing only relates to that portion ever hydro that are regulated, i.e., Niagara and Saunders.


So that isn't going to help him either.  If what we're looking for is some way of lining up the business plan with the filing, I am sure we can do that, except that the filing is lined up with the business plan, because the filing is based on this business plan.  So I am not sure what the missing piece is.


MR. KAISER:  Is that the issue, Mr. Thompson, that you want to make sure the filing is lined up with the business plan?


MR. THOMPSON:  Essentially, yes.


MR. KAISER:  Is it possible to show Mr. Thompson this material in confidence?


MR. PENNY:  Well, perhaps.  Mr. Chairman, as I said, the problem is I don't think it will, because if it is combined, it obviously isn't going to line up with the filing, because the filing is on a regulated basis.


MR. KAISER:  I presume if he has the unredacted -- or if he has the redacted, I should say, he can subtract one from the other and determine if it does line up.


MR. PENNY:  Can I do this, Mr. Chairman?  Perhaps we can regroup on this, discuss it, perhaps discuss it with Mr. Thompson, as well, but, in any event, get back to you on that?


MR. KAISER:  We will come back to it after the break, if that is satisfactory.


MR. PENNY:  Thank you.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions, Mr. Chairman.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Faye.


MR. FAYE:  Mr. Chairman, I believe one of the other intervenors wanted to go before me.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Mr. DeVellis, is that you?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


MR. KAISER:  Yes, go ahead.

Cross-examination by Mr. DeVellis:


MR. DeVELLIS:  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is John DeVellis.  I represent the School Energy Coalition.


I just have one quick follow-up question from a topic that others have touched on, and that is the issue of this stand-alone -- looking at OPG as a stand-alone entity, independent from its shareholder.


We have heard about various directives from your shareholder, or agreements or directives with your shareholder, one of them being the directive regarding the Niagara tunnel project.


Do you recall that discussion this morning?


MR. LONG:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I believe that was you, Mr. Long.


MR. LONG:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Is another such directive a decision to shut down the coal plants?


MR. LONG:  I don't think we have actually had a directive on that, but it's been a stated policy of the government, yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And then that is sort of a business operational decision that was made by the shareholder, not necessarily by OPG internally, for internal reasons, but by the shareholder for various policy reasons; is that fair?


MR. LONG:  I think that is fair.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And to the extent that these type of directives impact what you do on an operational level, is it fair to say that it has an impact on the costs you present to this Board for approval?


MR. LONG:  To the extent that the directives affect the prescribed or regulated facilities, I think it could be reflected in the costs that are brought forward to this Board.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Is it also fair to say that to the extent they impact your operational decisions, that it would impact your business risk, as well?


MR. LONG:  It could.  It doesn't have to.


MR. DeVELLIS:  But it is possible?  For example, if you took major capital project like the Niagara tunnel project or a decision to shut down your coal plants, if you took those business decisions on the basis of a directive from your shareholder, not necessarily on the basis of internal business decisions, that they may -- that may impact your business risk?


MR. LONG:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So to the extent that decisions from your shareholder impact your business risk, why shouldn't the identity of your shareholder mitigate your business risk for the purpose of determining your return on equity in capital structure?


MR. PENNY:  Well, Mr. Chairman, I think there is a legal underpinning that is involved in that question, which is why I interject.


OPG is a business corporation under the OBCA, and the OBCA provides for unanimous shareholder agreements.  So the issue of whether it is the government or not is irrelevant.  You don't need to be the government to issue directives as the sole shareholder of a corporation.  All you need to be is the sole shareholder, and they're in a position -- or to have a unanimous shareholder's agreement to issue directives to the corporation.  So it is --


MR. KAISER:  The question was whether that the fact the shareholder was the province of Ontario impacted on the business risk of the corporation.  Is that your question?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, my question is:  If the decisions made by the government, for policy or political reasons, impact on the business risk of the corporation and whether that increases or decreases the risk, that's reflected in your -- in the costs that you file to this Board, and also on the business risk profile that you submit to this Board?


MR. KAISER:  So what is your question?  Does the fact that the province is the sole shareholder either increase or decrease the business risk?  Is that the question?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, no.  I asked the set-up question earlier, and that was whether the witness panel agreed that decisions made by the province, which impact on the business operational decisions of the business, impacted on the business risk of the business.


And the panel -- and the witnesses agreed that that was the case.  My question was:  If that is the case, if the decisions made by the province impact on the business risk, then why shouldn't we also take into account the identity of the shareholder to mitigate the business risk?  Because I think Ms. McShane's evidence will be that we should not take that into consideration.


MR. PENNY:  Mr. Chairman, my point is simply that the -- what the evidence that Mr. DeVellis elicited is that a sole shareholder can, under a business corporation, issue directives and it doesn't need to be the government.  That's my point.


So there is a leap in logic here which I think is not connected to the questions.


MR. DeVELLIS:  The point is the identity of the shareholder as the government would impact the type of directive that it would issue.  In other words, the government would make decisions for political reasons or for policy reasons which may not necessarily be linked to the business realities of the corporation.


For example, if the decision to shut down coal was based on environmental considerations, that's not necessarily a business consideration for OPG, because it doesn't impact OPG's costs.  In fact, it may increase OPG's costs.


So on that basis, it may increase OPG's risk, and my question to the panel is:  If that's the case -- I think the panel agreed with me it would impact OPG's risk.  My question is:  If that's the case, then why shouldn't we take into consideration mitigating factors, the mitigating factor that the identity of the government as the shareholder mitigates OPG's risk?


MR. PENNY:  Again, Mr. Chairman, there is no connection.  It is our position that the identity of the shareholder is irrelevant and the reason is because -- that the government policy can be exerted again without being the shareholder.  Shutting down coal, they don't need to be the shareholder to shut down coal.  They can do it through legislation.  


So, yes, we totally agree that political risk is an issue, but it is -- again, it is remote from the fact that the government's our shareholder.  That is our position.


Our position is that as a sole shareholder, the government is entitled to issue directives.  If there is political interference, yes, that is a relevant consideration.  We do agree with that.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. DeVellis, it seems to me decisions by the province can affect any number of businesses, either positively or negatively.

You question, I think, at the end goes to whether the fact that the government is the sole shareholder has an impact on business risk and has an impact on cost of capital, and you are going to have Ms. McShane to deal with that.  Wouldn't it be better just to leave that issue to then?

MR. DeVELLIS:  I will deal with Ms. McShane for those questions, then.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Now, I have some questions on the various credit agency reports, and I know Mr. Rodger took you to them this morning.  I have slightly different questions.

I want to start with the DBRS report which is at Exhibit A2, tab 3, schedule 1, attachment A.  If you go to page two of that report, at the very first paragraph on page two, DBRS says that -- starting the second line:

"The current ratings take into account OPG's improved financial profile on a stand-alone basis, which has improved due to a more favourable regulatory framework."

Now, my first question is:  Have you asked DBRS what your credit rating would be for various categories of debt on a stand-alone basis?

MS. SIDFORD:  DBRS don't make those comments.  They only comment on what exists.  But what they do say, in a general way, is that we would probably be two levels lower without the support, on a stand-alone basis.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Two levels --

MS. SIDFORD:  Two levels lower.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Without the support of the province, you mean?

MS. SIDFORD:  That's right.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And the more favourable regulatory frame that they're referring to her is the change effective April 1st, 2006, to allow you to recover incremental and unexpected cost increases --

MS. SIDFORD:  That's correct.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Through a deferral account mechanism?

MS. SIDFORD:  That's correct.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And presumably under the anticipation of this cost of service proceeding as well?

MS. SIDFORD:  That's correct.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.

Could you turn to page four of the DBRS, the bottom of that page, paragraph 6:

"It is also expected that OPG will turn to the OEFC or project style financing in capital markets to fund these projects."

Referring to significant capital expenditures that are underway.

MS. SIDFORD:  That's correct.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  What is project style financing in the capital markets?

MS. SIDFORD:  Project style financing is for project-specific requirements.  It is an opposing of going to the debt markets for your general corporate expenses, project-specific requirements.  So usually a project financing-specific is you are building something infrastructure-wise, you would get project financing, and it would be a debt for that term.

MR. DeVELLIS:  And is that what you were discussing with Mr. Rodger this morning?  I believe he asked you about going to the capital markets for debt financing, and you responded that you were planning to do that in 2009.

MS. SIDFORD:  That's correct.  But that is for our general borrowing, our corporate borrowing.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Oh, I see.  Okay.  Have you done any analysis of what these capital market financings will cost?

MS. SIDFORD:  Yes.  But if you are not going to do it until the end of 2009, you can't predict it with any great certainty.  You can only get the prices that would be available today.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Is there something that you can provide us with for the most recent analysis and financing charges for new developments?

MS. SIDFORD:  I am not quite sure what you are asking for.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, any kind of analysis showing what the likely cost, capital costs, the borrowing costs of going to the capital markets.

MS. SIDFORD:  We could tell you what the borrowing cost, if we were to go to capital markets today, yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Do you have an analysis of that?

MS. SIDFORD:  We get rates quoted to us on a weekly basis from a survey of banks, and they give us a price for that every day -– or every week, sorry.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Is there something you can provide us?

MS. SIDFORD:  You already have it in the evidence.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Oh, okay.

MS. SIDFORD:  In one of the interrogatories.  If you turn to Exhibit L, tab 3, schedule 4, attached to the response on that, you will see a spreadsheet, page three of 3.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.

MS. SIDFORD:  This is only up to the end of December, but we get this on a weekly basis and we could give the update as it is currently.  This is where Mr. Thompson was asking about the spread of the 130 basis points, whether that was a high.

Today it is more like 168 to 170 basis points in the current credit market.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  This table shows a spread ranging from about 77 basis points in July 2005 to about 138 in November of 2007?

MS. SIDFORD:  That's correct.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  Have you done an analysis of what these credit spreads would be or borrowing costs would be in the event you're successful in this application, in terms of the return on equity and equity thickness you are looking for?

MS. SIDFORD:  Well, they won't change if our credit rating doesn't change, but it is likely that our credit rating might go up a notch, one level.  If that's the case, then we move one level up in the credit spread arena, so it could be slightly cheaper.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Why do you say it will go up a notch?  Is that --

MS. SIDFORD:  Why did I say --

MR. DeVELLIS:  You're assuming your credit rating would go up one notch if you are successful in this application?

MS. SIDFORD:  We don't know that for sure, but both of the rating agencies have indicated that if OPG were to enter into a stable regulated environment, that would be considered a positive, and that positive might translate to one level up in our credit rating.

MR. DeVELLIS:  But a stable regulating environment doesn't necessarily mean 10.5 percent ROE.  It could just mean two years of cost-of-service approvals?

MS. SIDFORD:  It could.  But obviously they would do the calculations and the analysis, whether the cash flow would support that.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So back to my original question, do you have an analysis of what the credit spread would be or what your borrowing costs would be in the event you got the capital structure and ROE that you are looking for in this application?

MR. PENNY:  Again, Mr. Chairman, can we just clarify?  You are speaking -- through you, Mr. Chairman -- we're speaking about in the event of debt issue in the latter part of 2009?  Or in 2010?

MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, I think the interrogatory showed, well, that showed the credit spread over the last three years, I guess, and I guess the projections going forward were -- I think you assumed the 130 basis points spread going forward, as well?

MS. SIDFORD:  We have assumed that for the purposes of this application.

The problem is you can't predict what the market will be, so the current situation is that those credit spreads have widened considerably due to the credit liquidity and crisis in the market at the moment, not to say it won't come down at some point in the future when things settle down.  At the moment, the underlying treasuries or Government of Canada rates have come down at the same time that credit spreads have widened.

The effect of that is that the rates haven't changed all that much in terms of an all-in.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Now, I understand the capital market will be fluctuating, but other things being equal, you get what you are looking here or you don't get what you are looking for here, do you have an estimate or some kind of analysis showing the difference in your likely credit spreads?

MS. SIDFORD:  I would say we don't have that at this stage.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Don't have that, okay.

That is not something you have thought about?


MS. SIDFORD:  Yes.  I think we think about it, but we have to wait to see whether we can move our credit rating, that we have the track record to show that these have turned out the way it is expected.  So that why is why we're waiting until the end of next year before we'll are going to be prepared to enter into the capital markets.


MR. DeVELLIS:  So you can't tell us or tell the Board, If we get this ROE capital situation, we will save X amount on debt costs?


MS. SIDFORD:  No, I can't tell you that at this stage.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  Now, can we just get back to the DBRS report at -- back to page 2, in the fourth paragraph on that page, "Over the next few years" -- this is dated November 30th, 2007:

"...it expected that OPG will generate sufficient tax flow from operations to fully fund nuclear waste and decommissioning funding."  


Do you see that?


MS. SIDFORD:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Do you agree with that conclusion?


MS. SIDFORD:  I do.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.


MR. LONG:  I will just add that under the Ontario Nuclear Funds Agreement, there is a prescribed contribution schedule to the funds to fully fund that debt liability, and that may change from time to time.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  If you go on -- I am just looking for the reference, but it goes on to say you will have to borrow to fund the Pickering -- to fund any Pickering refurbishments, new units at Darlington and new hydroelectric facilities, but that is okay because of your strong support from your province; is that right?  


MS. SIDFORD:  Yes, that's what they say.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Can I conclude from those statements that DBRS does not see additional borrowing for development capital as putting downward pressure on your creditworthiness?


MS. SIDFORD:  I think DBRS looks at us at the moment as a base.  So the idea is if we remain the same as we are today in our spending, our regular capital spending on an annual basis, that they don't see any problem with that.


However, if we embark on a larger capital spending program, then they would make the conclusion that we would have to find financing from some source.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, if you flip over to the next page of the report?


MS. SIDFORD:  Page 3?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.  Of DBRS, yes.  DBRS has put the second sentence in that paragraph: 

"Nuclear generation faces higher operating risks than other types of generation due to the complexity of the technology and financial implications, and forced outages are greater given the high fixed cost nature of these plants, as well as the fact that lost revenues resulting from outages are not recoverable through rates."  


Do you see that there?


MS. SIDFORD:  Yes, I do.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I believe in the S&P report they say something similar.  You don't need to turn it up.  It's page two of the S&P report, which is attachment B to this exhibit.  Can we conclude that the higher level of nuclear generation, the higher level of risk the company would face?


MR. LONG:  I think of the technologies that the company has, the operating risks associated with nuclear are judged to be the highest, but on the unregulated side, the -- you mentioned what the government policy is with respect to coal, so there is a lot of -- there is a lot of risk on that side, too, including market risk.


Where the balance would be if we increased our nuclear component, the company as a whole, I think we would have to do the analysis to determine whether the risk would go up.  It would, in part, depend on whether that increased nuclear component was regulated, or not.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Would you take that -- the impact on your credit score, creditworthiness, would you take that into consideration in determining whether or not to go ahead with the Pickering B refurbishment or other nuclear investments?


MR. LONG:  You know, again, I think it would depend on the circumstances, including whether we have directives or not from the province.


But in terms of making decisions, if a certain direction was going to affect our creditworthiness and shut us out, you know, of financing, certainly that would affect the decisions.


MR. DeVELLIS:  You're saying that in a hypothetical.  I take it you haven't actually done that analysis?


MR. LONG:  Not for the company as a whole, no.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.


Could I ask you to turn to page 10 of the DBRS report?  What DBRS says in the second paragraph is that your debt maturities are very short relative to the asset lives.  Do you see that there?


MS. SIDFORD:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Is it true that conservative business planning would, as much as possible, match the term of financing for an asset with the life of the asset?


MS. SIDFORD:  That would be exactly what you would want to do.


MR. DeVELLIS:  But it is not what you do?


MS. SIDFORD:  The problem is the debt that we have, which right now is an average of about four years or less, is the legacy or the original debt that was put in OPG when it was formed in 1999.


So that debt has gone by the number of years that was originally put there.  We are in the process of extending that maturity now.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  They discuss that in the last sentence of that paragraph.  They say:

"The refinanced debt has a maximum term of ten years at fixed rates which will extend the company's debt maturity profile."


Is that what you're referring to?


MS. SIDFORD:  That's what I'm referring to.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Is ten years still relatively short, though, compared to the asset life?


MS. SIDFORD:  Ten years is still relatively short.  At this moment in time, though, that's all the OEFC is prepared to give us.  That is the maximum term that they will extend credit to OPG.  The reason for that is they expect us to become self-supporting and self-funding.  So that is why the term was put to that maximum.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Would your debt costs be lower if you had a longer maturity?


MS. SIDFORD:  It is possible, yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I take it you don't have any analysis of what that would be?


MS. SIDFORD:  Because we haven't done it yet, we can't absolutely say for certain.  Usually the longer the term, the more you are paying.


So if you took an overnight rate versus or a three-month rate or three-year rate compared to a 30-year rate, the 30-year costs more, but you do have that matching.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Would it cost more if the asset life was assumed to be longer, as well?


MS. SIDFORD:  That wouldn't really matter.  It is the tenor of the loan.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Also on this page there is a reference to OEFC facilities.


MS. SIDFORD:  Correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I believe you provided us with the Niagara tunnel project in response to one of our -- SEC's interrogatories.


I don't think the other ones are in evidence; is that correct?


MS. SIDFORD:  They're not.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Would -- the terms of those facilities, would they be similar to the one you provided us, in terms of spreads and...


MS. SIDFORD:  Yes.  The terms and conditions on it would be similar, but not the term of the length of it.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Not the length, but the term of how to determine the base rate and --


MS. SIDFORD:  Exactly the same.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.


Can you just flip back?  I'm sorry I am going back and forth.  Go back to page eight of DBRS.


There is an annual cash flow analysis there.  I just have a couple of questions on that.  Are these figures that were provided to DBRS by OPG?


MS. SIDFORD:  Yes.  They do their own calculations, but it should be relatively similar.


MR. DeVELLIS:  They get data provided from you?


MS. SIDFORD:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  There is a line about the middle of the page, a row called "working capital changes" and we see there is some significant infusions of capital, I guess, in 2006 and 2007.  Can you explain that for me?

MS. SIDFORD:  Sorry.  I am just looking for what you are -– on page 8, you are looking at --

MR. DeVELLIS:  The table entitled "financial profile".

MS. SIDFORD:  "Working capital changes?"

MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.

MR. LONG:  Off the top of my head, I am not sure what is behind that.  I would have to understand exactly what DBRS has done with our data in coming up with that.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, there's an extra $316 million in working capital in 2006 and an extra $118 million in 2007.  Perhaps you could do it by way of undertaking, so --

MS. SIDFORD:  This is their figures, and they take our financial statements to come up with these.  So we probably can find out, but it's --

MR. LONG:  It would also relate to the consolidated position of the company.

MS. SIDFORD:  Right.

MR. LONG:  Rather than just the regulated side.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.

Then there is a net income -- the first line of that table says, "Net income adjustment for non-recurring."  Can you explain what that is?  Do you know?

MS. SIDFORD:  At this point in time, I don't know.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  I have just a couple of questions on the S&P report that is the next document in this exhibit, Exhibit A2, tab 3, schedule 1, attachment B.

On page three -– sorry, I've lost the reference -- they say that your rating would be a notch higher if you continued to do the same financial performance through the remainder of 2006 and that similar, it looks, 2007.

MS. SIDFORD:  Yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Is that your understanding?

MS. SIDFORD:  That's what they have said, yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  I assume from your filing -- well, have they taken action to increase your rating?

MS. SIDFORD:  They have not.  They're waiting for us to complete this process through the regulation.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  But in terms of your 2006 and 2007 results, you haven't approached them with respect to increasing your credit rating?

MS. SIDFORD:  We haven't -- we have had discussions, and we have been told by S&P that they will review it again once we have completed this process.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Now, I didn't see in either of the credit rating reports any material accounting changes.  Is that your understanding, as well?

MS. SIDFORD:  In their reports, no.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Did you advise either DBRS or S&P about changes in your capitalization policies effective January 1st, 2007?

MS. SIDFORD:  I don't know that we specifically advised them.  But they get the information off what we publish.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Perhaps I could ask you to turn to Exhibit A2, tab 2, schedule 1.

MS. SIDFORD:  Sorry, could you give me that again?

MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.  Exhibit A2, tab 2, schedule 1.  Page six of the document, you discuss changes to your overhead capitalization, and the materiality questions for capitalization.  Do you see that there?

MR. LONG:  Yes, we see that.

MR. DeVELLIS:  So am I right in understanding that if you buy new telecom equipment under the new policy, each individual piece of gear is under $25,000, if each individual piece is under $25,000, then no matter whether new or refurbished, no matter what the expected life of the asset, the amounts are treated as current operating expenses and not capital?

MR. LONG:  I believe that is the correct interpretation, but I would direct that question to the corporate panel that is coming up, or speak to 
depreciation --

MR. DeVELLIS:  These questions on overhead capitalization, I should direct to them?

MR. LONG:  Yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  I want to ask you now about some of the documents in the interrogatory responses, and the first is at Exhibit L-3 -- L, tab 3, schedule 1, attachment 2.  

MS. SIDFORD:  L-3-1, attachment 2?

MR. DeVELLIS:  L-3-1, attachment 2, page 15.  Before I go to page 15, this document is a presentation to the Dominion Bond Rating Agency, dated April 25th, 2007?

MS. SIDFORD:  That's correct.

MR. DeVELLIS:  If you could just turn to page 15, second bullet point.  Do you have that up?

MS. SIDFORD:  I do.

MR. DeVELLIS:  It says:

"The current ROE of 5 percent for regulated assets is lower than pure utilities but sufficient to maintain current investment-grade credit ratings."

MS. SIDFORD:  Yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Does OPG still take that position?

MS. SIDFORD:  Well, what that is stating is that we have, as I stated earlier, that gives us the necessary cash flow to carry on our business and to meet our obligations as they are today on sustaining capital.  What it doesn't include is giving us any extra to do new capital projects.

MR. DeVELLIS:  You're saying that this does not contemplate capital expenditures going forward, just as of this date?

MS. SIDFORD:  It is for our sustaining business, sustaining capital.

MR. LONG:  You also have to remember that the credit rating is on a consolidated basis, so it is also dependent on the earnings on the unregulated operations.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, this is talking about the regulated assets, the 5 percent ROE on the regulated assets.  And specifically, it is referring to investment grade credit rating.

MS. SIDFORD:  I think it is a response to a question by the rating agencies that 5 percent is not a normal rate-of-return, that it is expected on utilities.  And there was concern as to whether we could continue our business once that rate was established.  So they would look at the revenue and generating the return we need in order to maintain our debt.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, this is two years after that rate was established, so presumably they wouldn't have had that consideration at that point.

MS. SIDFORD:  They had the consideration when it was put in.  This is a response to it, saying that after that increase, on April 1, 2005, we were able to sustain our business with the 5 percent return on the regulated assets.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Could you go to page 50 of that document?  Five-zero.  So this is the same document.  The third bullet point says:

"The financial outlook assumes implementation of new regulated rates based on earning 5 percent ROE on regulated assets, effective April 2008."

MS. SIDFORD:  That's correct.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Can you tell me why you're assuming 5 percent ROE, effective April, 2008?

MR. LONG:  The base outlook we provided them, we were just chose not to change the rates.

While as it is stated earlier on the page that we were looking at, there was an expectation that we would apply for an increase in the ROE for purposes of providing what I would consider a conservative financial outlook to the rating agencies, we maintain that assumption.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, I thought when you were discussing with Mr. Rodger or maybe Mr. Thompson this morning, you -- you said your business planning assumptions assumed that you would not have a 5 percent ROE after April 2008?


MR. LONG:  No.  I think what I said -- certainly our current business plan is based on the application.  This was material that was developed over a year ago.  At that point in time, we did not know what our application specifically was going to look like.


As I say, for purposes of providing a reliably conservative outlook to the rating agencies, we just maintained, for simplicity, the 5 percent return.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, if you could turn to page 65 of the same document, here you have a summary of your 2006 results.  You said:

"2006 was a very good year in terms of our financial and generation performance."  


Then you discuss 2007, the challenges going forward, and then -- or 2007 to 2011.  You discuss an overview of your plans going forward, expenditures, et cetera.


I don't see anywhere in there or in this document, generally, any comment to the fact that your ability to meet these challenges hinges on you're getting an ROE or capital structure in the lines of with what you are seeking in this application.


MS. SIDFORD:  If you turn back to page 15, you will see precisely that statement.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.  It says you're seeking an extra increase in ROE.  It doesn't say anything about how, with these challenges going forward, we need -- we must have ROE of 10.5 percent, or whatever, of capital structure you are seeking in order to meet these challenges.


MS. SIDFORD:  Remember this is just a presentation.  We have a discussion around this, and it was very clear.  And, as you can see from the reports that the rating agencies have written, both S&P and DBRS, they have both put in the comments that they expect that we would be seeking a higher ROE.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Do those reports -- I don't recall seeing any specific mention of a specific number in any of those reports.


MS. SIDFORD:  In the DBRS report, if you go back to what you used as an example, they do compare us to other utilities and mention that we are lower.  If you go to page four of the DBRS report, paragraph 3, it starts off with the sentence:

"The 5 percent ROE and revenue cap on unregulated penalizes the company more than other regulated utilities."


Then it goes on to say they expect more in the range of 8.35 percent and 9 percent, respectively.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Can you turn to attachment 3 of that same interrogatory response, L, tab 3, schedule 1, attachment 3?


MS. SIDFORD:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  Just for clarity, could we have that reference again?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.  Exhibit L, tab 3, schedule 1, attachment 3.


MR. PENNY:  Thank you.


MR. DeVELLIS:  This is a report to Standard & Poor's dated April 25th, 2006; is that correct?


MS. SIDFORD:  That's correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Sorry, could you turn to page 44 of this document?  This report is in respect of OPG's operations over all, so on a consolidated basis; is that right?


MS. SIDFORD:  It is.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And on page 44, you discuss 2005 operating and financial results.  At the middle of the page, you say 2005 net income was $366 million higher than 2004 net income of $42 million.


And one of the reasons is the higher gross margin due to higher electricity prices and higher production.


MS. SIDFORD:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Is it fair to say the higher electricity -- well, let me ask:  What impact would higher electricity prices have been on that, contributed to that $320 million increase in net income?


MR. LONG:  I guess we are not prepared to answer that.  I mean, this -- the impact of electricity prices is predominantly on the unregulated side of the business, and we didn't come prepared to deal with that side of the results.


MR. DeVELLIS:  That's fine.


MR. LONG:  My colleague has pointed out that there is a regulated piece there, because obviously we were first subject to the interim rates April 1st, 2005.  So that is going to be a component there.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, I am trying to get at what proportion of your net income fluctuates -- your overall net income fluctuates as a result of changing electricity prices, which would not impact the regulated business; is that right?


MR. LONG:  I don't have that information here.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Is it correct, though, that change in electricity prices, fluctuation in electricity prices, would not impact the regulated assets?


MS. SIDFORD:  Regulated, that's correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  My last area that I want to ask you about is with respect to Exhibit L-2 -- sorry, L, tab 2, schedule 10, attachment 1.


MR. HALPERIN:  L-2, tab?


MS. SIDFORD:  L-2-10; right?


MR. DeVELLIS:  L-2-10, attachment 1.  Can you explain what this document is?


MR. LONG:  This is a document that was prepared by the -- by CIBC World Markets, who were the advisors to the province on the establishment of interim rates for the prescribed assets.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Could I ask you to turn to page 18 of the document, the second full paragraph above where it says 7, "Structural Separation".  It says:

"OPG modelled a 55/45 percent debt equity capitalization with a 10 percent after-tax return on equity for the regulated assets.  We concur with this assumption based on the comparable regulated entities, as well as the financial analysis undertaken as described in subsequent sections of this report."


Do you see that there?


MR. LONG:  I see that.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Then the comparable regulated entities they have at appendix K of the document.  If I could ask you to flip to that, towards the end of the document.  My little sticky came off, so -- page 56 of the document.  Do you see that?

MR. LONG:  Yes, I have that.

MR. DeVELLIS:  The comparable ROEs for 2004, you see on that appendix K, and they range from about a low of 9.14 percent to a high of 10.15 percent.

MR. LONG:  Yes, I see that.  You characterize them as comparable --

MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, what, sorry, what CIBC says is a comparable returns on equity.  Okay?

MR. LONG:  Okay.

MR. DeVELLIS:  So that is -– well, I mean it's sort of a midrange of other regulated utilities.

MR. PENNY:  Sorry, Mr. Chairman, just so we're clear about this, CIBC, at least as I read this, did not say they were comparable.  It simply says:

"See appendix K for ROEs and capitalizations of regulated utilities in Canada."  

There's no mention of comparable.

MR. DeVELLIS:  It's right under the sentence where they say --


MR. PENNY:  All right.  I do see it, yes.  Yes.  Mr. DeVellis is absolutely correct.  My apologies.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  So this shows a return on equity of a spread of about, if you look at the Ontario utilities again, Enbridge Gas and Union Gas, about 30 basis points, 30, 35 basis points above those.  Well, it is a higher capital equity thickness, but not out of line with sort of the other electricity distributors.  That was what CIBC's recommendation was in 2004.

And it looks like that was OPG's model, as well; is that right?

MR. LONG:  We worked together with the province and their advisors in preparing financial projections, as the document said, based on our business plan, but also at their direction.  

This was done back in 2004 and neither us nor, I would say, the provincial advisors had the benefit of a comprehensive cost of capital study.  But this was -- if you will -- a placeholder until the first OEB hearing on this matter, at which we would and have brought forward a comprehensive cost of capital study.

MR. DeVELLIS:  It is fair to say, though, that the spreads and return on equity and equity component of your capital structure, as compared to other regulated companies, utilities regulated by this Board, and far larger now, in terms of what you're seeking now, than what this report says?

MR. LONG:  I would defer to Ms. McShane and her evidence, in terms of the spreads.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Thank you very much, panel.  Those are my questions.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Stephenson, do you have anything?

MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Just very briefly.
Cross-examination by Mr. Stephenson:


MR. STEPHENSON:  I think this is for you, Mr. Long.  I think it was my friend, Mr. Thompson, that asked you a question regarding -- this was in relation to the question about the nuclear decommissioning costs and whether or not OPG ever considered ascribing a zero cost of capital in relation to that item.

Do you remember being asked that by Mr. Thompson?

MR. LONG:  Yes, I do.

MR. STEPHENSON:  As I understood it, I think you indicated to him that no, you did not.  That is no, OPG did not consider doing that, and that you thought that was entirely inappropriate.  I think that is what you said.  Did I get that right?

MR. LONG:  I think so, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  My question to you was:  Why did you think that that was inappropriate?

MR. LONG:  I think in part of the question, Mr. Thompson alluded to customer-supplied funds as being a rationale for zero cost of capital being attached to something.

I indicated there that --  he was looking at the liability side of the balance sheet, but in terms of what's in the rate base, this is the undepreciated asset retirement costs, and they have neither been provided for by customers or gone through the income statement of OPG before.

So I think it is entirely inappropriate to look at them in that way.

I would further say that, you know, as I indicated in the technical conference, we believe that the rate base treatment is entirely appropriate.  It's consistent with regulation 53/05, the fixed assets we're using in the rate base come from our financial statements, and in the section of the regulation dealing with the deferral account associated with nuclear liabilities, there is quite specific direction there as to the rate base treatment.  One of the -- I think the very first item on the list of revenue requirement impacts of the nuclear liability is, in fact, a return on rate base.

That's our primary view on why we think the return on -- the rate base treatment is the appropriate means of dealing with this issue.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am just going to move over.  
Cross-examination by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I just have a few questions, actually, on the same topic of the unfunded nuclear liabilities.

Mr. DeVellis actually just took you to the same document I wanted to ask some questions on.  It was the CIBC report at L-2-10.  In response to question C, I guess it is attachment A.

MR. LONG:  I have that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Unfunded nuclear liabilities is discussed at page 19.  Okay?

MR. LONG:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, in response to AMPCO interrogatory L-2-58, which asked you to note the difference between your rate base treatment, which I understand to be option number 1 on the CIBC report, versus taking the assets out of rate base, you responded by saying that you took that to mean what happens under option 2.  That would be option number 2 on page number 19; is that correct?

MR. PENNY:  I think in fairness, perhaps we should all turn up L-2-58 so we know exactly what it is you are asking.

MR. BUONAGURO:  The interrogatory was:
"Please indicate the impact on the deficiency of annually recognized nuclear liabilities, were treated as a flow-through and rather than as a rate base amounts subject to ROE."
The response was:
"OPG assumes that treating the nuclear liabilities as a flow-through means giving them the treatment included in OPG's financial accounts."

What I am asking is, in the scenario that you have included in your response, the "flow-through" scenario is option number 2 that CIBC talks about.

MR. LONG:  No, it's not.  That's another option altogether.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Could you describe the difference between the two options?

MR. LONG:  The option -- what is in L-2-58, as it is described there, is the treatment afforded nuclear liabilities in OPG's financial account, specifically the income statement.

There we have two financing items; the accretion, which is the movement due to the passage of time in the value of the liability, less the earnings on the segregated funds.  That's -- so that's the -- and that is in contrast to the return on rate base that we use on the asset retirement costs as part of the rate base treatment.


What's in option 2 is applying a different rate of return to the undepreciated asset retirement costs in the value of the fixed assets.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I am a little confused, because option number 2 says it removes the unfunded nuclear liability from the rate base.


MR. LONG:  Yes.  It takes it from the rate base and doesn't earn a return on the rate base.  It still has the depreciation of that amount on the ARC component in the revenue requirement under that option, but the return is a different -- is at a different rate than the weighted average cost of capital, which is used in the rate base treatment.


MR. BUONAGURO:  In the description of option number 2 in the CIBC report, it doesn't say anything about depreciation.  All it says is: 

"Remove the unfunded nuclear liability from the rate base and instead collect interest as calculated per ONFA on the unfunded liability explicitly rates."


So I am reading it -- what I am understanding is that there is an ONF -- the ONFA, which is the Ontario Nuclear, I guess, Funds Agreement, calculates interest, and you're saying, We're going to charge the interest to ratepayers.  That's all you are going to do.  That's how I read that.  Am I wrong?


MR. LONG:  I agree that it doesn't explicitly deal with depreciation, but the actual option, as it was modelled by us and CIBC, did include the depreciation, but then just used the ONFA discount rate, rather than the weighted average cost of capital in looking at the revenue requirement impact.


As is stated, you know, on the same page, the CIBC did not favour this option, because it represented streaming, in terms of the capitalization of the rate base, and therefore didn't follow traditional regulatory practice.


MR. BUONAGURO:  You said in that last answer that you modelled it and that the original model included depreciation.  Is that model in the evidence?


MR. LONG:  No.  This has to do with the -- sorry, the work that as done in 2004, and the final information that was provided to the province and their advisors as the basis for -- the advisor's recommendation to the province is posted on the -- I believe, on the OEB website.  That was a page I provided in an earlier session.  It has a summary.  That is based on option 1.


Information on option 2 has not been provided.  But, as is indicated here, the results, you know, in terms of the nuclear regulated rate are defined.


MR. BUONAGURO:  How does option 2 fit into the analysis that is found at L-2-58?


MR. LONG:  It really doesn't.  The accounting treatment, among other things, is -- you know, because it includes the earnings on the segregated funds, is dependent on the pace and status of funding, and that's subject to a completely different set of decisions.  It is driven by the ONFA agreement.  


It was also driven by the approach the province took to the initial capitalization of OPG, in the first place.  We don't believe that the funding should affect the appropriate allocation of costs to the revenue requirement.  


If it were fully funded, the corporation could take, you know, a decision to fully fund it.  If you followed that approach, then only the depreciation component of the amount we currently have in rate base would flow through to the revenue requirement.  There would be no return component, which I would submit would be entirely inappropriate.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Are you able to provide, I guess you would call it a model run, where you replace option 1 with option 2 in your application?


MR. PENNY:  Just so we're clear, is the question that similar to L-2-58, in terms of comparing what the bottom line revenue requirement impact would be of option 2 as opposed to the so-called flow-through approach that was outlined in L-2-58?


MR. BUONAGURO:  I think that was going to be my next question.  I would like to see that in comparison to -- in L-2-58 you have option 1 versus flow-through, and then you would add an analysis of option 2 for the rate period.


MR. PENNY:  So the question is:  Is that possible to do?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.


MR. LONG:  I think that's possible to do, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And then obviously I have had some trouble understanding the mechanics of option 2.  If you could provide some detail on the mechanics of option 2, in particular, to show how option 2 would arrive at, according to the CIBC report, a one dollar per megawatt hour lower initial rate.


MR. LONG:  That was as at 2004 and was based on the interim rate period.  It was also in advance of the more recent changes to the estimate of nuclear liability.


So just so that I am perfectly clear, L-2-58 dealt with the test period.  You would like the equivalent for option 2 for the test period?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.


MR. LONG:  All right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  With some -- well, more explanation on option 2 than is provided on the flow-through, because I really -- I don't quite understand how option 2 differs from the flow-through, but I think you can explain that in your answer to the undertaking.


MR. LONG:  Okay.


MR. KAISER:  Do you want to give that a number?


MR. BATTISTA:  We will give it a number, J1.3, and it sounds all inclusive, and so to clarify it...


MR. PENNY:  As I understand it, the question is that we're to do an analysis of what's described on page 19 of the CIBC report as option 2 in connection with the test period, to show the difference between the proposed method and the method recommended by CIBC and this option 2 method as it would apply to the test period; and to provide some explanation of what the differences are between option 2 and what's described in L-2-58 as the flow-through method.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO PROVIDE AN ANALYSIS OF WHAT IS DESCRIBED ON PAGE 19 OF THE CIBC REPORT AS OPTION 2 IN CONNECTION WITH THE TEST PERIOD; SHOW THE DIFFERENCE AND PROVIDE AN EXPLANATION BETWEEN THE PROPOSED METHOD AND THE METHOD RECOMMENDED BY CIBC AND OPTION 2 METHOD IN L-2-58.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, the second part to this, L-2-58 calculates the difference over the test period.


Are you able to calculate what the difference is between those two methods and the option 2 method over the lifetime of the assets?


MR. LONG:  We certainly haven't done that.  That, I think, would involve very significant modelling.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Are you able to advise directionally how they will differ?  Would they -- for example, do you anticipate it would even out over time, or is the trend which we see in the answer that option 1 will be more expensive over time than option -- the flow-through option, for example, for ratepayers?


MR. LONG:  I think option 1 will show to be higher than option 2 in terms of the impact.


However, you know, I would again indicate that option 1 is not to be recommended, you know, for the reasons I have given, including those that are given by the CIBC in the report.


MR. BUONAGURO:  One of the things mentioned in the report, on the same page, page 19 --

MR. LONG:  Sorry, I misspoke myself.  I said option 1 is not to be recommended.  Option 2 is not to be recommended.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

On the same page, CIBC notes, I guess, they didn't find any regulatory precedents in North America on this issue.

This report, I think, was -- it was in 2004?

MR. LONG:  Yes.  December 2004, it's on the front page of the report.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Has OPG been able to locate or stumble upon any regulatory precedents since then?

MR. LONG:  We haven't done an extensive search.  There are some interrogatory responses that look at how New Brunswick and Hydro Quebec -– well, New Brunswick, Hydro Quebec, we are not sure how they are doing it, and also in the US.  I would add that comparisons to the US have to be tempered by the fact that our nuclear liability is quite different from that in the States.  Only about 30 percent of our liability is associated with decommissioning of generating facilities, whereas in the States, that is all the liability that's faced by the nuclear utilities.

The liabilities associated with used fuel and low and intermediate level wastes are dealt with on a pay-as-you-go basis.  They're just expense, based on rates that are well established.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I just have one last question, and this is on the credit reports.  I will give you the cite, but I will read the quote I would like you to comment on.  It is at page 10 of 14, attachment B to Exhibit A2, tab 3, schedule 1.

This is the S&P report dated December 9th, 2005, and under the heading "competitiveness" --

MR. PENNY:  Mr. Buonaguro, hold on a minute while the witnesses turn that up.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  It's page 10 of 14.

Okay.  The quote I am concerned about says:
"Although there are other independent hydroelectric and nuclear operators participating in the spot market, the demand for energy and capacity such that nuclear and hydroelectric generators have relatively modest exposure to dispatch risk.  Access to interconnected markets in New York and Michigan where OPG's generation is also competitively priced on a marginal cost basis further reduces the company's dispatch risk."

That was from the credit report dated December 9th, 2005.  I just wanted OPG's view on whether this description regarding dispatch risk is still valid today.

MR. LONG:  I think that's a question that is probably better posed to a subsequent witness panel, where I believe we have somebody from our energy markets area that will be able to address that more fruitfully.

MR. PENNY:  Mr. Chairman, that panel is called "hydroelectric, other revenues" and they will be testifying later in this hearing.

MR. KAISER:  All right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I can hold the question to then, then.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  We will take the afternoon break and come back in 20 minutes.


--- Recess taken at 3:02 p.m. 

--- Upon resuming at 3:35 p.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


Mr. Faye.

Procedural matters:


MS. CAMPBELL:  Before we do that, Mr. Chair, there was an answer that was filed -- I'm sorry, there was -- an answer that was answered to undertaking J1.1 was actually filed, and it is the backgrounder to the prices on electricity for OPG dated February 23rd, 2005.  It was in response to a request made by Mr. Thompson.


MR. KAISER:  Did you have any questions on this, Mr. Thompson?


MR. THOMPSON:  If I could just have two minutes, Mr. Chairman, it would be much appreciated.


MR. KAISER:  Yes.

Cross-examination by Mr. Thompson (continued)


MR. THOMPSON:  Panel, with this Exhibit J1.1 also turn back to page three of the management's discussion and analysis in the 2007 annual report, if you could just open that page, as well, please.  Let me know when you are there.  


Do you have those documents now?


MR. LONG:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  In J1.1, at the bottom of 

page 1, we have the only place where I can find the government's description of this 5 percent return, and it reads:

"The prices on OPG's regulated assets are based on projected costs of operation, plus a 5 percent return on equity (ROE).  While the standard ROE for North American utilities is 10 percent, a 

5 percent ROE will generate revenue to service the OPG debt held by the Ontario Electricity Financial Corporation, while putting significant discipline on OPG to contain costs and improvement overall operating efficiencies."


Now, would you agree with me that appears to be the only place in this document where the 5 percent ROE is mentioned?


MR. LONG:  Subject to reading it through completely again, I believe that is correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So then I take you back to the report where the sentence reads:

"These regulated prices were established by the province."  


Just stopping there, were they established by the province; i.e., OPG did not have a role to play in that?


MR. LONG:  Can you give me the reference for that?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Sorry, it is page three under "Rate Regulation", the second full paragraph, and it starts in the middle of the paragraph.


MR. LONG:  Mm-hmm.  Yes.  They were established by the province.  As is discussed in the CIBC report, we did provide assistance in the form of, you know, our business plans and some financial modelling, but the final rates were established by the province.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So the sentence reads:  

"These rates were established by the province based on a revenue requirement, taking into account a forecast of production volumes and total operating costs and a return on rate base which assumed an average 5 percent on equity."


It seems to me there must be another document somewhere to support OPG's making that statement in its annual report, am I right, a document over and above Exhibit J1.1?


MR. LONG:  I am not sure what you are looking for.  I think it's, you know, entirely consistent, in that we and their advisor produced some, you know, projections, as is described there, and the province then made an adjustment.  What was recommended by the advisors and the modelling that we provided was based on a 10 percent ROE.


They subsequently adjusted to bring that down to 5 percent.  So there is no other document that deals with the 5 percent, except the -- as far as I am aware, except the background material that you just referred to.


MR. THOMPSON:  I am looking for the document that uses the 5 percent as an average, an average 5 percent return on equity and a return on rate base, of which it is a part, and these other elements, the forecast that is referred to, production, total operating costs, to produce these precise dollar amounts that are mentioned in the paragraph.


Could you do this for me, panel?  Would you undertake to determine what the additional information is - and when I say "additional", I mean additional to J1.1 - which supports the statements made in this paragraph of the annual report?


MR. PENNY:  I think what Mr. Long has said, Mr. Chairman, is that that is it, but we will undertake to consider the point.  If there is anything else, we can advise Mr. Thompson.


MR. KAISER:  All right, thank you.


MR. THOMPSON:  With that, I will leave it there for now.  Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.  

If I might be permitted to excuse myself, I have to get back to Ottawa for a funeral.


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be characterized as undertaking J1.4.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  DETERMINE IF ANY ADDITIONAL INFORMATION AVAILABLE TO SUPPORT THE STATEMENTS MADE PARAGRAPH REFERRED TO IN CIBC ANNUAL REPORT.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Faye.

Cross-examination by Mr. Faye:


MR. FAYE:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I have only a few questions on behalf of Energy Probe.


One is to clarify a phrase that I heard I believe in response to a question from Mr. Stephenson, and the phrase was "customer-provided capital".


I wonder if the panel could just give us a definition of that and illustrate it so we understand where this customer-provided capital arises.


MR. LONG:  Being an expert in this -- I think something that's not relevant to OPG, but I think in the case of LDCs - for example, customers may provide an upfront payment to, you know, construct some facilities which are eventually owned by the utility and included in their fixed assets - those are an example of customer-provided capital that's used to finance part of the fixed asset that the utility has.  


It is not provided by investors, but by customers.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  That was my understanding of what the term meant, and I was going to question what applicability that may have in a generation station.  I can't think of one, and I think what I just heard you say is it doesn't have any applicability; is that right?


MR. LONG:  That particular example does not.


MR. FAYE:  Are there any other examples of that application of that sort of phrase we should be aware of?


MR. LONG:  Not that I am aware of.


MR. FAYE:  Okay, thank you.


I would like to make a few clarifying questions on some material that Mr. Thompson -- and Mr. Buonaguro, I believe, covered this, as well, and Mr. DeVellis.


That has to do with the funding from the Ontario Electricity Financing Corporation.  I think I heard one of the panellists respond to a request from Mr. Thompson, and it had to do with under what circumstances OEFC provided funding to OPG.


I think the response was that in the case of a government-directed project, funding from OEFC was either available or guaranteed.  Did I get that right?


[Witness panel confers]


MS. SIDFORD:  There are two parts of our funding.  There is the initial debt --


MS. CAMPBELL:  Could you put your microphone on, please.

MS. SIDFORD:  There was the initial debt that was put into OPG when it was formed.  That was also from the Ontario Electricity Financial Corporation, and there was -- as far as I know, there wasn't a directive when that initial debt was put in the company.


From there on, any new debt that has been issued by the Ontario Electricity Financial Corporation, the format that it has taken is that the Ministry of Energy issues a directive or order to the Ministry of Finance to provide that funding.  

There is variation of conditions under which that is done, but there will always be a direction that is done internally between the ministries.

MR. FAYE:  Did I understand correctly that all of your financing of debt to date has been done by the OEFC?

MS. SIDFORD:  To date, all of our long-term funding has been from the OEFC.

MR. FAYE:  So of those projects that the government directs you to do, it would seem logical to conclude that every project has been directed, but I don't think that is the case.  

Are you saying that your funding has been uniformly from OEFC, and a subset of that has been projects directed by the government?

MS. SIDFORD:  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  And moving now to your proposal that you are going to go to the capital markets for funding in 2009-2010, will that funding from OEFC still be available to you on government-directed projects?

MS. SIDFORD:  I would expect that is possibly the case.

MR. FAYE:  Would it be OPG's intention to try to finance government-directed projects through the capital markets, or would you expect to rely on OEFC?

MS. SIDFORD:  I think it depends on the project, because if it's a commercially viable project that can be funded within the external public debt markets, it is possible that we could do it.  I don't think the directive, necessarily, is a precursor to that, but if it is something that may not be able to be funded within the public debt markets, such as a build of nuclear plants, new nuclear plants, which are extraordinarily expensive, you may not be able to get funding for the entire project in the public debt markets.

MR. FAYE:  That leads into my next question and that is:  Are there a set of criteria that have been established under which the government will direct you to build or refurbish certain things?  Or is it an ad hoc process where they come up with this idea, and is there a materiality limit, for instance?

MR. LONG:  I think direction from the government, in the context in which you ask the question, has only been so far with respect to undertaking new generation.  The tunnel is one example.  Lac Seul, which is an unregulated facility, is another example.  And, as is indicated in the evidence, they more recently directed us to begin to look at the refurbishment and possible new nuclear build at Darlington.

So those are the areas.  Other projects that we undertake to sustain our operations, whether it be at the nuclear plants or the prescribed hydroelectric facilities, are undertaken in the absence of a, you know, of a government directive.  It is only new generation facilities that so far have been subject to that.

MR. FAYE:  On the issue of materiality, would that include even small hydroelectric projects that you might undertake?

MR. LONG:  You mean completely new generation?

MR. FAYE:  Yes.

MR. LONG:  We haven't undertaken it.  We don't have experience as to whether that would or would not be covered by a directive to this point in time.

MR. FAYE:  You do have plans for new hydroelectric, though, I believe; don't you?

MR. LONG:  We are examining some possible unregulated hydroelectric opportunities.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  But not regulated hydroelectric, then?

MR. LONG:  Excuse me?

MR. FAYE:  You aren't planning any new regulated hydroelectric; do I understand that correctly?

MR. LONG:  Not at this time, no.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Do you consider the OEFC available financing to be a benefit to you?

MS. SIDFORD:  It has been a benefit, because that has been our only source of long-term funding.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Then if I can use that term "benefit", are there other benefits that derive from having a government-directed project rather than your board making the decision to go ahead and build the tunnel project, for instance?

MR. LONG:  None come immediately to mind.

MR. FAYE:  Would accountability or lack thereof be a benefit, in your mind, in that if the government has directed you to undertake something internally, do you say that if that decision was a bad one, ultimately it is not the company's fault, it is the government's fault?

MR. LONG:  The accountability for these projects inside the company would still exist, you know, in terms of managing them appropriately.

MR. FAYE:  Yes.  I think you are right.  But setting aside execution of the project, that is making the right kind of construction management decisions and right down to where you would site the project, possibly, if you did all of that right and in hindsight the thing turned out to be a very bad decision, would the board take any action against any executives in the company on that?  Would there be, you know, someone losing their job or anything of that nature?

MR. LONG:  You would have to define for me what you mean by a bad decision.  You know, as I described it earlier, where we directed one to take projects, our board has two conditions: One is, a means of recovering the costs through regulation or power purchase agreement, and the other was financing.  So from a purely economic point of view, the first of those would sort of guarantee that it was -- from the company's financial position point of view, you know -- a reasonable undertaking.

So whether measured by other criteria, it turned out to be or is judged to be a good or a bad decision, that is what where I would need some help.

MR. FAYE:  Yes, I understand that the question is fairly speculative, because you haven't probably encountered a circumstance where you have come across this yet.  

I was only interested in the risk to your executives, your middle management people who, under ordinary circumstances would be held accountable for proposing a project that might ultimately turn out to be a big money loser, but when the government directs you to do it, can you, then, say:  Well, the government directed us.  We are not responsible for the fact that it didn't work, because we executed it properly.  Would you see the company responding in that way?

MR. PENNY:  Well, I think as Mr. Faye himself has indicated, Mr. Chairman, it is a highly speculative question.  We have not been faced with this circumstance, and I am not sure how it really advances the project that we are engaged in here.

MR. KAISER:  I think we understand your point, Mr. Faye, but I think it is really argument.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I accept that.  


I have just one more question, I think, and that is clarifying something from this morning.  This refers to Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 1, table 2.

MS. SIDFORD:  C1, tab 2, schedule 1?

MR. FAYE:  Table 2.

MS. SIDFORD:  Table 2, yes.

MR. FAYE:  Line 3, "Other long-term debt provision".  Is this what would be normally referred to as a plug number?

MR. LONG:  I am not sure what the convention is.

This is the amount of debt necessary to go from the allocation of our existing short- and long-term debt, up to the proposed capital structure.

MR. FAYE:  Would that debt actually be issued?

MR. LONG:  No.  The existing and planned long-term debt, allocated, is shown in line 2.

MR. FAYE:  But this other long-term debt provision does attract a return on debt; that's correct?


MR. LONG:  It has a cost rate that's described in the -- you know, in the evidence.


MR. FAYE:  And you are recovering it, right, if you get the rate application approved?  That amount of money would be in?


MR. LONG:  That's part of the cost of capital, yes.


MR. FAYE:  Okay, thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Long, you just said that when you receive a direction from the government with respect to a project, your board attaches two conditions, one of which was that you would be assured that the government would provide financing; is that right?


MR. LONG:  It is really that financing is going to be available.  So whether that is provided by the OEFC or whether it is available in -- you know, through project financing or through the capital markets, you know, in the future, I think that condition would be satisfied.  


It doesn't have to be government financing.  It has been to date.


MR. KAISER:  It has been to date.  Is there a process where you get a directive and you scratch your head and say, Can we get commercial financing, and you make a determination you cannot and you go back to the government and say, We'll need financing?  Is there a process such as that, or not?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. LONG:  I think that based on experience to date, there can be a separation of sort of a directive to undertake and perfect clarity around this financing question.  I guess one example is an unregulated one, the Portlands Energy Centre, where we initially did examine whether it could be financed in the public markets and came to the conclusion that it couldn't and, therefore, had to go back to OEFC.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Ms. Campbell, do you have questions?


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes, we do, but the first set of questions is going to be asked by Mr. Cincar.


MR. KAISER:  All right.

Cross-examination by Mr. Cincar:


MR. CINCAR:  Ms. McShane, in her report, notes that she recommended including CWIP in rate base, but OPG did not adopt that recommendation; is that accurate?


MR. LONG:  I think this is something we will want to consider in the future.  It is not -- this proposal does not include that, but certainly as we get into major projects in the future, that we would want to reconsider that.


MR. CINCAR:  I would like to now refer to L-1-113 and L-1-112.


MR. LONG:  Yes, we have those.


MR. CINCAR:  Okay.  L-1-113 is regarding the CWIP, and the response at line 24 states:  

"OPG does not believe the generic CWIP methodology is appropriate for its projects."  


And that's the Board-prescribed interest rate for all natural gas and electricity distributors.


It then refers to L-1-112 for an explanation of what OPG plans to use, and there, at line 37, it says:

"The appropriate carrying charge, in OPG's view, is the weighted average cost of capital in the approved capital structure."


Can you please explain what the difference is between including the CWIP in rate base and keeping it out of rate base and applying the weighted average cost of capital?


MR. LONG:  So were there two questions there?


MR. CINCAR:  Well, are you applying the weighted average cost of capital to this CWIP, as it seems to suggest here?


MR. LONG:  I think, as it is stated here, that is our position, but this proposal does not have that built in.  The forecast cost of debt, I believe, was used.


MR. CINCAR:  Oh, so you're not using --


MR. LONG:  It is not in this proposal, but as I indicated earlier, I think this is something that is going to become much more of an issue as we go forward and undertake some major projects, such as refurbishment or new build.


MR. CINCAR:  Okay, that clarifies it.  I misunderstood the response in the interrogatory.  Sorry.

Cross-examination by Ms. Campbell:


MS. CAMPBELL:  Now I have some questions.  The first question I have actually probably -- I don't know, Mr. Penny, if you would be the one who would answer it.


There was a filing, Exhibit N, tab 1, schedule 1 which was called the impact statement, and it contains a certain amount of information about various subjects, including the cost of capital and certain information provided concerning Ms. McShane.


At the technical conference, there was an indication that there had been a change in the equity risk premium and the discounted cash flow test results, and they were not included in the updated impact statement.  When will they be included -- provided, rather?  So the updated equity risk premium and discounted cash flow test results.


MR. PENNY:  I think it was -- with respect to that, let me say, first of all, that we didn't put in a lot of detail, because we're not seeking any -- we're not updating the evidence.  We're not seeking any change as a result of the net effect of these things, but on the issue of Ms. McShane specifically, it was our intention to have her deal with that in examination-in-chief.  I was not going to prefile anything about that.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.


My first question is going to build on a question that Mr. Buonaguro asked, and it is going to take us back to the CIBC report, specifically page 19.  The CIBC report is found at...


MR. LONG:  It's L-2-10.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  L-2-10, attachment 1, page 19.  And you were discussing with Mr. Buonaguro the two options.


Mr. Buonaguro pointed out that immediately underneath the two inset paragraphs, there is the statement:

"Although there are no known regulatory precedents in North America on this issue, we prefer option 1 because it follows traditional regulatory practice for rate base methodology and reduces regulatory complexity."


I know that Mr. Buonaguro asked if, since the date of this report, which I believe was December 2004, OPG had become aware of any regulatory precedents, and I was uncertain from your answer as to whether you had found such precedents; and, if you have, could you produce them?


MR. LONG:  When you say "precedents", you mean precedents supporting option 1?


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.


MR. LONG:  No, we have not found any.


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  That leads me to my next question.  If there are no known regulatory precedents, how does option 1 follow traditional regulatory practice?


MR. LONG:  I think this is also covered off in the -- some of the words in the report.  But, essentially, it was on the basis that option 2, as described here, would represent streaming of the capitalization, rather than using a deemed capital structure.


MS. CAMPBELL:  I still don't understand if there is no regulatory precedent, how it is traditional.

MR. LONG:  Well, those were the words of CIBC.

MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  So you are unable to assist me with explaining that any further?

MR. PENNY:  Well, I don't think it is really a matter of evidence.  It's really, we are talking about two different things.

One is a precedent for rate base treatment of nuclear waste liabilities.  The other is a practice of whether you use a deemed capital structure, or whether you actually attach certain costs to certain assets in rate base.

What we understood CIBC to be saying and what we understand is consistent with regulatory practice is that you do not stream assets in rate base.  So that's what is consistent with regulatory practice, is the non-streaming, if you will.

MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  Are there any regulatory precedents for option 2, that you know of?

MR. LONG:  You know, this refers to the Ontario Nuclear Funds Agreement, and that's something that is very unique to OPG.  So I will have to say that there are no precedents that are exact parallels of option 2 that I am aware of.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay, so none for 1 or 2.  I take what Mr. Penny has said -- Do you adopt what Mr. Penny said, by the way?

MR. LONG:  I do.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  Mr. Penny hasn't been sworn yet, so I just want to be careful.

MR. PENNY:  I did say it was not a matter of evidence.

MS. CAMPBELL:  We are going to move to -- right now I would like to discuss long-term debt.  Mr. Faye asked a number of questions about that.

What I would like to turn up is C1, T2, S1, -- no.  S2.  I apologize.  Exhibit C1, tab 2, S2.

Now, we spent some time, if you could just go to page 8, on "planned project-related long-term debt issues", and it has been fairly clearly established -- if you go to line 19 is where it starts – that:
"Other than the Niagara tunnel project, OPG doesn't plan to undertake projects involving project-related financing for the prescribed assets during the test period."

MS. SIDFORD:  Yes.

MS. CAMPBELL:  So keeping that in mind, if I could take you back to page 3, under "planned long-term debt issues, 2008 and 2009", the first sentence, line 17, 18:
"Approximately 1.6 billion in new borrowing is needed to finance new generation projects over the 2008-2009 period."

And I am assuming, and I would appreciate confirmation, that the 1.6 billion in new borrowing is not going to have anything to do with the prescribed facilities that is the subject of this application.  Am I correct in that?

MS. SIDFORD:  The 1.6 billion does include the remaining borrowing for the Niagara tunnel until that project is completed.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  The Niagara tunnel has its own one billion set aside, does it not?

MS. SIDFORD:  It does.

MS. CAMPBELL:  It has access to a billion?  And when I add up the numbers for the Niagara tunnel, just based on your evidence and the numbers for those who are following at home, page two of -- again, in this, staying in C1, tab 2, schedule 2, if I go down to the bottom, line 30, in 2006 there was 160 million borrowed.  Up at the top of 2007 there was another 80 million borrowed, again for the Niagara tunnel.  And on page eight and page nine, for 2008, the borrowing -- if I could -- that's at line 26 on page 8, 210 in total, and then it is planned that in 2009 -– and this is page nine at the top, there will be 350 million.

My total leaves me with about 200 million remaining on the one billion facility.  But is it your intention that that 200 million is in the 1.6 billion?

MS. SIDFORD:  I have to follow you through.  Could you just go through that again?  I'm sorry.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Sure.  I'm sorry.  We've got a billion dollars as much September 2006.

MS. SIDFORD:  Right.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Right?  On page 2, it appears that $160 million was borrowed, right?

MS. SIDFORD:  Yes.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Line 30, October 22nd, 2006, OPG borrowed 160 million pursuant to that agreement.

Then the top of page 3, another 80 million on the same basis.

MS. SIDFORD:  Right.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Right?  So then, so if I subtract that, I've got 760 million left, so 240 million from a billion.

MS. SIDFORD:  That's correct.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Right.  So then on page 8, in 2008, bottom of page 8, line 26, we're going to borrow another -- we.  You, OPG, are going to borrow another $210 million.  Right?

MS. SIDFORD:  Yes.

MS. CAMPBELL:  And then you plan in 2009 to borrow another 350.  That's at the top of page nine, $350 million.  When I add that up, I see that there's still some remaining on the policy, on the facility.  Am I right, or not?

MS. SIDFORD:  Yes.  The project will still have funds available into 2010, which is outside of this test period.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  But you just said that the 1.6 billion in new borrowing that I referred to on page three at line 17 --

MS. SIDFORD:  We should be clear.  That 1.6 and the one billion for the Niagara tunnel cannot be viewed together.  1.6 billion is the total borrowing that the company will do in 2008 and 2009, or forecast to, of which the Niagara tunnel borrowing is included for those years.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.

MS. SIDFORD:  So you can't add it up.  There is other projects that will have spend in there.

MS. CAMPBELL:  The Niagara tunnel, setting that aside, in the 1.6 billion, is there any spending in that 1.6 billion that relates to the prescribed facilities?

MS. SIDFORD:  Yes.  Anything related to the Niagara tunnel would be in that total.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Set aside Niagara tunnel.  Anything aside from the Niagara tunnel?

MS. SIDFORD:  No.  Well, sustaining capital, but, no, there is nothing.  We will be refinancing debt, which would then have an allocation to the regulator or prescribed assets.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Included in the 1.6 billion, would there be any new nuclear generation in that number?

MS. SIDFORD:  There is no new nuclear generation in that number.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  So the only significant chunk for the prescribed facilities is the Niagara tunnel of the two -- and it is 200 million, approximately?

MS. SIDFORD:  Correct.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.

MR. LONG:  I think 210 in 2008 and 350 in 2009.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.

MS. SIDFORD:  Yes.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.  Which left 200 million, I believe.

The next thing we're going to deal with arises, actually, out of two different things.  It's going to deal with the HOEP forecasts.  And for this, you will need L1, S3.

MR. LONG:  Sorry, what was the reference again?

MS. CAMPBELL:  L1, S-3.  We need just a little bit of -- oh dear, I am surrounded by copies.  Yes.  I've got it.  Thanks.

This has to do with the calculation of the HOEP that was used for forecast.  And this was discussed at the technical conference, and one of the things that emerged at the technical conference -- and the reference starts at page seven of the technical conference, is that there are two different HOEPs that were used.  Two different numbers came out of this.


What I want to do is ask some questions to clarify those numbers.  Can you -- first of all, is this the appropriate panel for me to be asking this question to?


MR. LONG:  I don't think so.


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  So because it has to do with -- there was some discussion as to whether or not this would be the panel to put it to, and based on the look on your faces, I am guessing that -- and Ms. Erzetic's look, that this might not be the panel that --


MR. LONG:  I think given your question, this was allocated -- this was sort of allocated to this panel based on the, you know, references to ROE and the reference to the table dealing with the historic ROE calculation.  That is the reason it was allocated, but if you have got questions about HOEP, that needs to go to a different panel.


MR. PENNY:  That would be the payment amounts panel, Mr. Chairman.


MS. CAMPBELL:  The payment amounts?


MR. PENNY:  Payment amounts panel, which will have Mr. Lacivita who will speak to that.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  Any questions relating to HOEP can be asked of that panel?  Okay.


MR. KAISER:  You guys finished conferring?


MS. CAMPBELL:  No, we're not.  We're having a discussion about various matters, some of which actually pertain to this hearing.  So if you could just give me your indulgence for a few seconds?


Just so that everybody else in the room knows what's going on - I hate to hide it all - we're having an animated discussion over whether certain questions that relate to the differences between the proposal by Ms. McShane, which has been obviously put forward on behalf of OPG, and the CIBC World Markets report, should be explored with your panel or with Ms. McShane.


Given the answers that you have provided previously, I anticipate that the answer will be that is better taken up with Ms. McShane?


MR. LONG:  I believe that --


MS. CAMPBELL:  You believe that to be true?


MR. LONG:  Yes.


MS. CAMPBELL:  So I just simply don't want to have -- perhaps at the time that I raise it with Ms. McShane, to have someone say to me, no, that should actually have been raised with the first panel.  So I raise it now, and, with that, the Board Staff is finished their questioning.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

Questions from the Board:


MR. RUPERT:  I just have a couple of questions, panel, one on some of the credit rating report questions you have been asked today, and then a couple on the nuclear liabilities.


Mr. Long, early this morning, I think when Mr. Rodger was questioning you, he asked you some questions about - you can turn it up, if you like, but I think it may not be necessary - the DBRS report.  That is the recent one, November 2007, Exhibit A2-3-1, attachment A.


On page 10 of that report, he read this paragraph below the table about the OEFC providing OPG with long-term debt financing on a project-by-project basis, and it ended -- the paragraph ends by saying it is expected that OPG will not undertake any major projects without being assured of financing and in-place cost-recovery mechanism.


I recall -- I don't have the transcript, obviously, but I recall you said something to the effect that this financing was important for projects that your board of directors did not view to be merchant projects, something to that effect.


I wonder what you meant by that.  Just give me a minute.  The purpose of my question is:  What is the purpose of a directive to OPG to undertake these projects?  Is it because the projects are not considered to be commercially viable by your board, or are there other reasons why the company is -- by direction, it is required for the company to undertake the projects?


MR. LONG:  My comment earlier really referred to projects that are unregulated, but -- and in that context, if a project is viewed as not being sustainable within the current construction of the Ontario market, then I guess you would describe it as being uneconomical and not commercially viable, and our board clearly would not undertake that, given the fiduciary responsibilities under the OBCA, and that can be overcome by a directive from the province.


MR. RUPERT:  The word "directive".  I just want to make sure I am clear on this, because the word "directive" is used a lot in this province.  Directives, when I use that term or I see the term, I am thinking of something like a letter that may go to the OPG, a directive under the act.


Are the directives that you are referring to here just those shareholder resolutions, or are there documents equivalent to the directives that the OPA gets, that we sometimes receive from the Minister of Energy?  I just want to make sure I understand the nature of the document.


MR. LONG:  I am not perfectly conversant with the details.  I know -- I think there have been cases where we have been directed.  I think there have also been cases for the OPA to negotiate with us.


MR. RUPERT:  Well, all the things that you considered to be directives, to use the term in a general sense, are those all on your website or in the evidence somewhere?  Is there a complete list of the things that you would consider to be the directives from the shareholder in respect to these prescribed assets?


MR. LONG:  I believe all directives we have received from the shareholder are on our website.


MR. RUPERT:  Okay.


MR. PENNY:  Mr. Rupert, if I might interject for a moment.  I wasn't sure if part of your question involved where this came from, but it might be of assistance to you.


In the memorandum of agreement, which is at A1-4-1, there is a provision under "Governance Framework", B, item 2, that deals with the directives.  I alluded to this in some remarks I made earlier, but it described --


MR. RUPERT:  It is a unanimous shareholder agreement?


MR. PENNY:  Yes, under the OBCA.  That was my point.  Thank you.


MR. RUPERT:  I guess, Mr. Long, Mr. Penny used this memorandum of agreement first thing this morning in introducing the case and referred to the references to OPG will operate as a commercial enterprise and it has a commercial mandate.


I take it, then, that these unanimous shareholder resolutions are things that have to be done, because, otherwise, if the directors were to authorize these projects in and of themselves, they might be seen to be going contrary to the commercial mandate the company has?


MR. LONG:  That can be the case, yes.


MR. RUPERT:  Yes.


On the nuclear liabilities -- and maybe the easiest way, because this gets kind of confusing with these numbers, is to refer to the 2007 annual report.  I have the full -- your full published reports.  I think you have, as well.


MR. LONG:  Yes.


MR. RUPERT:  It is note 10 to the financial statements.  It's page 94 of the published report.  I am not sure what page it is in the version that Mr. Thompson was using earlier today, but it is note 10.

MR. LONG:  Yes, I have that.

MR. RUPERT:  There is a first table on that page 94 that shows the total liability of 10.9 billion at the end of 2007.  Then below that is the table that shows the continuity for the two years, and starting in 2006 at 8.759 billion, and then at the end of that column under 2006 is the 1.386 billion increase, as a result of your new reference plan.

Then over the page at 95, which is the first paragraph on page 95, it in there says that the liability that existed before this increase at the end of 2006 -- first of all, it says:

"The total undiscounted cash flows of this 10.9 billion liability are approximately 24 billion."

And that that 24 billion has been discounted to the 10.9 using two discounts rates.  It's been five-and-three-quarters percent for the liabilities that existed before December 31, 2006, and then I guess this incremental amount that was added at the end of 2006 was based on a discount rate of 4.6 percent.  That's what the paragraph says.

MR. LONG:  Yes, I see that.

MR. RUPERT:  Those numbers, those numbers turn into the accretion amounts that you expense in your financial statements and your income statement annually.

MR. LONG:  That's my understanding of the accounting treatment, yes.

MR. RUPERT:  Now, those numbers -- actually let's just go to the income statement again to make it clear.  The income statement, which is page 74, has for the two years, under "expenses", there is the accretion of 507 million in 2007, 499 in 2006.  And then right below that you have taken off the earnings related to the funds, the waste management funds.

Now, it is those numbers that, it seems to me it is that accretion amount that is the cost of the liability.  It is like interest.  "Accretion" may be the term, but essentially it is an interest amount that compounds and grows, and then the cash flows are taken off.

And that extra 1.4 billion, 1.386 billion that you add to the fixed assets at the end of 2006, it really wasn't an investment in a fixed asset that was provided from debt financing or equity financing.  You didn't have to raise any new money to have that increase in your fixed assets, right?  That was an accounting entry; increased assets, increased liability.

MR. LONG:  But to the extent that those liabilities have to be paid for, either through contributions to the funds to cover liabilities in the future, or through operating cash flow today, those are monies that are going to have to be provided for.

MR. RUPERT:  At that point, though, the actual increase in the assets did not require you to tap the capital markets for debt or did not require you to go to the shareholder and ask for an equity injection.  It is an accounting entry, and yes, those liabilities obviously will have to be paid for and serviced over the long period of time.

MR. LONG:  Yes.  And it has resulted in increases in the required contributions to the ONFA segregated funds.

MR. RUPERT:  You said in response to other questions, and this goes back to some of the interrogatories you've got, that to use the actual costs of the liability -- which is, part of its at five and three quarters percent, part is at 4.6 percent, as we've just seen, and netting off the earnings on the assets, you referred to that as "streaming" and said we should ignore those.  Your application ignores those amounts totally, these amounts in the income statement, those rates, they don't appear in your rate application at all.  Instead, your application says that the increase in your assets, for example, dated 2006, was really financed by debt and equity.  You deemed it to be financed by debt and equity with certain costs, and you objected to what you called "streaming" notion.  

I am wondering why is streaming, in your opinion, problematic?  You said it is somehow contrary to traditional regulatory practice.  I am would wondering if you could give us some ideas as to why streaming -- examples or precedents of this idea that streaming is in conflict with regulation.

MR. LONG:  I think as Mr. Penny described, streaming is something that it is certainly my understanding that is usually not undertaken in a regulatory environment.

MR. RUPERT:  What's the basis for that understanding?

MR. LONG:  Advice I received from those who have looked, particularly our regulatory affairs people, who have looked at the --

MR. RUPERT:  Will there be a chance in a future panel to talk to somebody about this issue?  If Mr. Long has received advice from the company, is there someone else who will be appearing in a later panel to respond?

MR. PENNY:  Mr. Barrett is, himself, is going to testify on this, our regulatory policy witness, if you will, so those issues can perhaps be taken up with Mr. Barrett.

MR. RUPERT:  Okay.  Ms. Campbell was just asking you about precedents on the regulatory treatment of nuclear liabilities and so on.  I want to be clear.  Have you looked at -- let me back up.  My sort of rough sense of the US nuclear industry -- which is a bit rough -- is that you've got competitive nuclear generators that we can ignore in this process.  They're people that operate in markets that are not regulated.  You've got entities that are owned by government and maybe they're relevant here.  Tennessee Valley Authority, for example, that owns nuclear plants.  Then you have the traditional cost-of-service crowd that gets regulated by state Public Utilities Commissions in some jurisdictions.  I think Florida is probably an example of that, sort of power and light.


Have you looked specifically at the treatment in a place like Florida, or in other states where their nuclear generators are subject to traditional cost-of-service regulation, to actually check the basis on which those nuclear decommissioning liabilities are included in the revenue requirement?

MR. LONG:  We have taken a somewhat cursory look at how these are dealt with in the US.  And I think that's included in an interrogatory response.  I don't have the reference with me right now.

MR. RUPERT:  One of the interrogatories that was referred to earlier today is the L, tab 2, schedule 58.  That was the one that Mr. Buonaguro was asking you about, as well, which is your calculation of the difference being, I think it is option 1 and the flow-through approach.

As I read that correctly, for the two years -– or, excuse me, the 21 months, the difference between option 1 and this flow-through approach is $148 million, which is a reasonably-sized percentage of what you are claiming as the revenue deficiency for this period.

It is in the order of 15 percent, probably.  I am wondering, given this huge size of the number, whether it is something that you ought to look at, if this Board is for the first time to make a ruling on how to deal with these things, you know, in this kind of situation, whether we wouldn't be informed by how other regulators deal with this very issue.

Is that something that the company could do during this hearing?  I realize not in the next few days, but this hearing is going on for several weeks.  Is this something the company could undertake to do or is not prepared to do?

MR. PENNY:  I think you can rest assured, Mr. Rupert, that in light of those questions, that the company will do whatever it can to find the precedents and perhaps -- I am not sure it is so much a matter of evidence as argument, although I guess it could, but we will --

MR. RUPERT:  I ask it as part of the evidence, and I understand what you're saying, because of not only the CIBC report but the company itself is, again, in this interrogatory response, referred back to that and continued to refer to traditional regulatory practice.

If those are just to be words attributed to CIBC alone, then I am not sure what the company's position is on the matter.  So I guess I am really asking if -- we know what CIBC thinks, but what does OPG think?  Does OPG have any views at all about how regulators deal with these matters?  And if the answer is "no", that's fine, but I would like to know if you have an opinion, evidence as to how the regulators are doing this.  All I have heard so far is what CIBC said four years ago.

MR. PENNY:  Yes.  I think perhaps what we would like to do is consider that, but certainly we will review available precedents.  I think there is really two issues that you have touched on.  One is how other utilities recover the cost of the nuclear liabilities, and the other is this separate question of this so-called "streaming" concept.

We will look at both of those.

MR. RUPERT:  Okay, thanks.

MR. PENNY:  I think we, rather, adopted the streaming one as being generally accepted, but if you want some examples of that, we will certainly look for some.

MR. RUPERT:  All right.  Thanks.

MR. LONG:  As I said earlier in the day, we have also been very much guided by what is in the regulation 53/05.

MR. RUPERT:  Maybe we can discuss that during the variance account panel.  I think, as well, that is where it comes up, I believe.  It's in the variance account in respect to the stub period from end of 2006 up to April 1, 2008.  Is that what you're referring to, Mr. Long?  I think that is where the rate base is referred to in respect of a deferral or variance account --

MR. LONG:  That's correct.


MR. RUPERT:  -- during the stub period?  Okay.  The last question I've got is something Mr. DeVellis touched on.


I mean, I can't recall the reference, but you were looking at the DBRS report, or maybe Standard & Poor's, but you got to this question of sustaining versus developmental capital.  It said that I think the rating agency's opinion - and I think you agreed with it - was that the current structure would allow the company to finance its sustaining capital requirements with -- would likely be inadequate for developmental expenditures, something to that effect.  I didn't write the reference down.


Then Ms. Campbell just now was asking you about any further capital projects for the prescribed asset division, if I can call it that, beyond the Niagara tunnel.  I think you said there really are none planned, new generation as opposed to sustaining capital; right?  Is the Niagara tunnel the only thing?


MR. LONG:  Except for the exploration, the early work on possible refurbishment of Pickering B and possible new nuclear.


MR. RUPERT:  That I understand for the regulation is already sort of dealt with by a separate deferral variance account structure the government has put in place that says you shall recover that --


MR. LONG:  Yes, yes.


MR. RUPERT:  -- as I understand the regulation.  So I am just -- what I am trying to think about it, and maybe this is the wrong panel - and tell me if it is and we can talk about it later - is in this cost of capital, capital structure discussion, what's unclear to me is how much of a return the company requires for new projects, given that the regulation very clearly and specifically refers to particular generation facilities.  


So one can understand it has to be maintained and sustained over time, but the idea of brand new generation, it seems to me to be somehow different than the list of prescribed assets.


I am just wanting to get your thoughts on to what extent the whole capital structure return on equity, in your business, for this prescribed division, has to be looked at with future new generation development in mind, or can that be taken off the table; i.e., should we look at this as just a collection of assets, they're named, they need to be sustained and maintained and in good shape to run for the future, but that's all we've got?  We don't have new generation to build here, because that is part of unregulated OPG.


MR. LONG:  Or it could become part of regulation, but it would require some change presumably to --


MR. RUPERT:  An explicit act by the government, perhaps, yes.


MR. LONG:  -- regulation.  I think our -- certainly the return on equity work that Ms. McShane has done is based on the business risk profile of the existing assets.


MR. RUPERT:  She doesn't assume anything about having to generate money for development, then, new developments?  We will get into that with her, I'm sure, at the time.


So when we're talking about new projects, then we can take it that only the Niagara tunnel is the only significant new development in the prescribed assets, certainly for as long as we can see?


MR. LONG:  Yes.


MR. RUPERT:  And even beyond this point, there is nothing else committed at this stage?


MR. LONG:  Nothing else is committed at this point, no.


MR. RUPERT:  One last factual one, which maybe you can steer me to the right IR or something.  I am sure it is here somewhere. This $10.9 billion nuclear decommissioning liability is for your entire fleet, which of course includes Bruce.  You still own the Bruce station and you are still responsible for that.


Is there somewhere in the evidence or the IR responses that splits the $10.9 billion number between the liability in respect of Darlington and Pickering and the liability in respect of Bruce?


MR. LONG:  I am not sure whether it is broken up, but that is something -- I am also on the nuclear liability panel and perhaps if you would wait to address it to that panel, we will be able to provide the breakdown for you.


MR. RUPERT:  Okay.  It would be helpful in that panel, then, to have a table similar that you have in your note 10 now on a combined basis which shows the continuity of the account and the various pieces that change during a year, if that kind of table could be produced in two pieces, one part for the liability in respect of the prescribed assets and the other piece in respect of the Bruce station.


MR. LONG:  Can you refer me, again, to the continuity, just so I have it clear?


MR. RUPERT:  Yes.  Note -- in note 10, page 94, and it is the second table there, which shows the liability beginning of the year, accretion, expenses, settlement of liabilities and so on.  So, if possible, when you come to that panel, it would be useful for these periods and I think even the future, since you have forecast some of these numbers in some of your responses, but whatever period is manageable, to try to cut this into two pieces, that would be certainly useful for me.


MR. LONG:  Okay.


MR. RUPERT:  Thanks.


MR. BATTISTA:  Perhaps we should give that an undertaking number.  I am sure it is going to be provided, but just so the record is clear.  That would be J1.5.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.5:  PROVIDE TABLE SIMILAR TO NOTE 10 SHOWING IN TWO PARTS, ONE FOR LIABILITY IN RESPECT OF THE PRESCRIBED ASSETS AND THE OTHER IN RESPECT OF THE BRUCE STATION.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. RUPERT:  That's all of my questions.  Thanks.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Penny, any re-examination?

Re-examination by Mr. Penny:


MR. PENNY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I only had one question in re-examination.  I think this is for you, Ms. Sidford.


It relates back to the very beginning, although many hours ago, Mr. Rodger's questions on the DBRS and Standard & Poor's reports.


You were asked about the issue of the observations by the rating agencies of -- I think Mr. Rodger used the phrase "lower risk due to government ownership".  You had agreed with him that that was their observation.


I guess what was unclear to me was lower risk of what?  I wonder if you could address, when the agencies are talking about "lower risk due to government ownership", what risk they're talking about.


MS. SIDFORD:  I believe the rating agencies, their one goal is to provide lenders with adequate information, in terms of the business risk of an operation, but the business risk translated into whether an entity will default on their loans.


So the risk profile that has been highlighted by both DBRS and S&P is that OPG has higher operating and financial risks associated with its business, but they view the government's support that has been there in the past, and continues to be there, as a mitigating factor, in that if OPG were to default on its debt, that the government would step in.


There is no guarantee, explicit guarantee, but they believe that because OPG provides an important supply of electricity, that they would do what was necessary.


MR. PENNY:  So it is default?


MS. SIDFORD:  Default, yes.


MR. PENNY:  Default risk.  Thank you.  That is my only question in re-examination.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Before we adjourn, Mr. Chair, perhaps could we canvass counsel on the time that tomorrow will take.  We have panel 2 set up, but if the day progresses very quickly, we might want to have panel 3 on standby.  That might depend on how much time everybody wants to take tomorrow.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Gentlemen, any idea how long you will be tomorrow?  I guess unfortunately we only have about half of the counsel here.


MR. PENNY:  Right.


MR. KAISER:  It won't be a very accurate estimate.


MR. PENNY:  Perhaps what we ought to do - we will undertake to do this - is send out an e-mail as soon as we're out of this room, so that we can bring the absentees into the loop on that.  Would that --


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.  The only thing is to telegraph, obviously, to those who sit on panel 3, through you, that if, in fact --


MR. PENNY:  That part we can deal with.


MS. CAMPBELL:  -- we're only three hours to fill tomorrow morning, panel 3 could be up much sooner than they expect.


MR. PENNY:  That part we will deal with.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you, panel.  9:30 tomorrow.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:44 p.m.
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